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EVERYTHING FROM THE GROUND UP.
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STRONG HISTORICAL REVENUE GROWTH
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NUMBER OF TOWERS OWNED & OPERATED

299

708

2,300

10,400*

*Includes approx. 5,300 towers from acquisitions
closed Jan. 1 through March 15, 2000, including all
AT&T and AirTouch towers acquired or to be acquired.
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STRONG HISTORICAL EBITDA GROWTH
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Wireless. Internet. Broadcast. They’re all

industries whose growth is changing the

world—and American Tower is an integral

part of it. With a keen eye for opportunity

and profitability, American Tower has blazed

an impressive trail in wireless, Internet and

broadcast. Today, we own and operate more

than 10,400* sites and 160 satellite antennas

in the United States, Mexico and Canada,

making us the North American leader in

Towers, Services and Teleports. With these

three integrated segments, we’re actively

investing in communications’ highest growth

sectors. When you pick up your mobile phone

to talk to a friend, send data over the

Internet or tune in to your favorite T.V. or

radio station, there’s a very good chance its

signal passed through a site owned, operated

or leased by American Tower. And that’s the

way we like it.

B U I L D I N G T H E I N F R A S T R U C T U R E F O R T H E

T E L E C O M M U N I C A T I O N S I N D U S T R Y

1

*Including pending transactions.



As we enter the new year at American Tower, we are moving with speed and

confidence. And we should. We have gathered the people, the capital, and the assets

needed to take a long, exciting ride on the stunning growth of two converging

sectors, wireless and the Internet. We believe we’re going to win, have a lot of fun

and create a lot of shareholder value along the way.

Winning is about having the right people in the right skill positions, and while we will

never stop recruiting and developing talent, we really like the depth and quality of the team

we have in place today. We have a balanced blend of youth and experience, proven veterans

and talented new picks. Our culture encourages hard work, tending to the business of our

customers and taking care of each other. Our common purpose is to win.

The articulation of our strategy and vision to a supportive financial community has allowed us

to gather up very substantial financial resources. Our $8 billion plus market cap is based on solid

fundamentals, including real revenues and real cash flow, not hype. The trend lines of our wireless towers

with two or more years of age suggest that we will exceed our five-year return on assets objective of

20%. So too with our broadcast towers and teleports. And we believe the stable, recurring nature of

our revenues will ultimately attract investment grade debt, enabling us to produce levered returns that will

be much higher.

We have acquired and built more wireless towers, broadcast towers, wireless service providers and teleports

than anyone else in North America, our chosen playing field. We are particularly proud of our 1999 new tower

development efforts, as we constructed 1,045 wireless towers in a single year, which to our knowledge has never

been done before. This work was accomplished safely and cost effectively. While we have been and may continue

T O O U R S H A R E H O L D E R S

Front (left to right): Michael Gearon, Jr.,

Doug Wiest, Steve Dodge, Steven Moskowitz

Back (left to right): Jim Eisenstein,

David Garrison, Joe Winn



to be aggressive acquirers of towers, we are absolutely riveted on new tower development, which we believe will produce the highest growth rates, margins and

financial returns. As we move toward a longer-term goal of exceeding 20,000 towers, we will be equally focused on the quality of our towers, their locations and

capacities and their inherent appeal to our customers. And we will continue to invest in the development of our service companies, enabling us to be responsive to

our customers’ increased emphasis on outsourcing, and also enabling us to increase the revenue performance of our towers and teleports.

While we can’t help but feel good about the foundation in place at American Tower, we may feel even better about the state of the markets we are serving. The

growth in wireless voice traffic has in many cases exceeded the capacity of the networks, stimulating a rapid expansion in sites and therefore demand for towers

and related infrastructure. And now data applications, primarily Internet driven, are beginning to emerge, which will drive even more growth and demand for our

current and future sites, and for our teleports. New players and new technologies, all wireless based, seem to pop up by the week, and unlike a year ago, these

companies have the money to build out their numbers.

One critical task for us is going to be managing our inventory skillfully so as to maximize its long-term growth and profit potential. Another will be for us to become

more firmly grounded in the network designs and technologies of the companies that we serve. We are taking critical steps to prepare ourselves well for these

and other challenges.

It’s important to understand that while we have accomplished a lot, the sectors we have chosen are very fast moving, and our competitors are too. So we’ve got

to keep learning and growing, and we’ve got to keep getting better at understanding our customers’ needs and responding to them. We must remain quick, agile

and opportunistic, even as we become much bigger.

To do these things well, we must continue to invest in and develop good people, give them the training and resources they need to be successful and reward them

when they are. Unfortunately the hounds on Wall Street are already doing their quarterly pennies-per-this and pennies-per-that routine on this very young industry.

While we are sure to entertain them with a fast chase, we may also annoy them from time to time with our investment in people as we build for the long term.

In the end, however, it will be worth it.

Thanks for your interest and your support.

Warm regards,

Steven B. Dodge 
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer 
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NEW TOWER CONSTRUCTION INCREASING

118

502

1,045

99 00 01 02 03

86.9

U.S. WIRELESS SUBSCRIBERS SOARING

107.3

129.4

169.1

150.5

In millions

Number of Towers Built

Source: Paul Kagan Associates, 1999.
Courtesy of Personal Communications Industry
Association (PCIA).



Wireless. Catch the energy of the wireless revolution and you’ve caught a glimpse of our success. As

wireless subscriber rates continue to go down and cellular technology improves, consumers are demanding more—

and getting it. But to answer that need for bigger and better networks, national carriers are vying for new towers

across the country. And there’s no end in sight—even as traditional voice transmissions multiply almost daily, Internet and

data are rapidly emerging as a strong market which may ultimately eclipse voice.

There's a reason that American Tower leads this explosive marketplace. With a continually expanding network of sites and

tower clusters in 43 of the top 50 U.S. markets, Mexico and Canada, we're always ready to assist any customer's deployment plans.

In 1999, we not only developed successful carrier relationships that included tower acquisitions and future build-out commitments, but we also constructed a

remarkable 1,045 towers. By fueling the dramatic expansion of our network, we've established a national footprint that belongs to American Tower alone. This

competitive site development and co-location strategy—a strategy that includes advanced proprietary systems, site locator tools, key relationships and partnerships

—makes sense for everyone involved. It offers our customers unprecedented leasing opportunities and it enables our towers to generate maximum revenues for

the lowest possible cost. Given our goal to own and lease out 20,000 towers by 2004, it's no surprise that the nation's top wireless carriers are turning to

American Tower. When it comes to wireless, we're ahead of the curve.

E X P A N D I N G F R O M 2 , 3 0 0  T O 1 0 , 4 0 0
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Broadcast. The next time you sit down to channel surf, think of the origins of those telecasts—and then think of American

Tower. When we started out in 1995 as a subsidiary of American Radio, we established a mission to own, develop and lease

broadcast towers. Since then, we’ve put our engineering resources to work to build a killer network of state-of-the-art broadcast

facilities. And today, with more than 300 sites in the U.S., Mexico and Canada, we lead the world as the top independent owner and

operator of broadcast towers. But building the most technologically advanced towers is only part of our industry leadership—we

believe that it’s the building of successful relationships with the nation’s top broadcasting companies that has propelled our broadcast

business to new heights.

Today, an exciting new technology in television transmission is invigorating what has always been a profitable market segment. As more broadcasters fulfill the FCC

mandate to enable Digital TV, the need for new DTV-capable antennas is driving the demand for new sites. American Tower is there. By first building and then

leasing broadcast space on our DTV towers, we help broadcasters focus on their core business. At the same time, we focus on ours. By leasing out the remaining

space to FM radio stations and wireless companies, we maximize our return on our investment.

S H A P I N G T H E B R O A D C A S T E N V I R O N M E N T

6
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U.S. BROADCAST TOWER CONSTRUCTION MARKET

Estimated Number of Broadcast Towers
Built or to be Constructed
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In the hum of construction you can find them—American Tower Services teams working to get our wireless

customers on air with maximum efficiency. Only American Tower offers such a large workforce dedicated to the

behind-the-scenes essentials that tower customers require. As a full-service infrastructure solutions provider, we're

ready to tackle the details that make our customers' sites a success.

With our recent acquisition of Galaxy Engineering Services, our customers benefit from advanced radio frequency and fixed

network design analysis and optimization. Our Services group locates the best sites and handles everything from zoning to construction

management. Backed by over 30 years of site construction and equipment installation experience, Specialty Constructors meet demanding

build-out schedules at the lowest possible costs. And with MTS Wireless Components' recently expanded manufacturing facilities, our customers enjoy a wider

range of components for their every need. For tower owners who want to leave everything in the hands of experts, our Network Operations Center (NOC)

works 24 hours a day to monitor the active elements of tower sites—ensuring that every tower remains safe and compliant with FAA and FCC regulations.

By providing such a necessary variety of resources, we forge multi-faceted, multi-revenue customer relationships.With our ability to satisfy our customers' needs—

as well as the ability to control our own tower development, build more towers for less money and leverage key industry experience into our corporate profit

stream—everyone wins.

9
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Convergence. It’s more than an industry buzzword to American Tower—it’s an opportunity. Our 160 FCC-licensed

satellite antennas have always enabled international broadcasters such as ABC, CBS, CNN and CNBC to send real-time video

to affiliate stations around the world. But as satellite technology expands—offering broader bandwidth, higher speeds and

optimized TCP/IP connections—so does the demand for multimedia, Internet, voice, data and streaming. It’s a whole new dimension

for the teleport marketplace, and at American Tower we’re already widening our customers’ horizons.

Look around American Tower teleports today, and you’ll see the results of our dedication to growth.With a rapidly-expanding portfolio of

facilities supporting fiber optic networks, IP platforms and more, we’re becoming a valuable single source for industry leaders in Internet, voice,

data and video transmission. Leaders like Global One, MCI/Worldcom, Netfax, the World Bank,Telefonica Argentina and Pacific Gateway. Creating top-quality IP

solutions and partnering with some of the best names in the business: it’s a strong strategy in a market that’s moving faster than ever.

C O N N E C T I N G T H E W O R L D

10
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IVDV REVENUES GROWING RAPIDLY

1999 IVDV Revenue 
(Internet, Voice , Data and Video)

* Includes ICG acquisit ion which closed in Dec . 1999.

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

6.1 6.4

7.1

12.8*

$ In millions



With a population of more than 100 million and the second largest economy in South and Central America,

Mexico’s communications market offers an undeniable opportunity for a company with expertise. That’s American

Tower. And in a recent 600 tower agreement with Nuevo Grupo Iusacell, the second largest telecommunications firm

in Mexico, we’re making our presence known. By marketing 400 existing towers and building 200 more, we will be estab-

lishing one of the largest wireless tower networks in Mexico.

To profit from broadcast towers that reach virtually all of the Mexican people, including the country’s most highly-populated

cities—Mexico City, Monterey, Guadalajara, Cancun and Acapulco—American Tower turned to TV Azteca for a portfolio of 190 existing

towers. These towers offer not only broadcast capability, but also the opportunity for significant co-location revenue from cellular, PCS, paging and other telecom

applications. Today, we’ve established a beachhead in Mexico that sets the stage for what we do best. Building the future.

A  G R O W I N G P R E S E N C E I N M E X I C O

12
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The financial data set forth below has been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, certain of which are included in this Annual Report.The data should be read in conjunction with our
audited consolidated financial statements and with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Prior to the ATC Separation on June 4, 1998, we operated as a
subsidiary of American Radio and not as an independent public company.Therefore, the results of operations and the financial condition shown below for such period and prior may be different from what
they might have been had we operated as a separate, independent public company.The information is not necessarily indicative of our future results of operations or financial condition.

Year Ended December 31, July 17, 1995 through
In thousands, except per share data 1999 1998 1997 1996 December 31,1995 (1)

Statement of Operations Data:
Operating revenues $ 258,081 $ 103,544 $ 17,508 $ 2,897 $ 163
Operating expenses:

Operating expenses excluding depreciation and amortization, tower separation,
development and corporate general and administrative expenses 155,857 61,751 8,713 1,362 60

Depreciation and amortization 132,539 52,064 6,326 990 57
Tower separation expense (2) 12,772
Development expense (2) 1,607
Corporate general and administrative expense 9,136 5,099 1,536 830 230

Total operating expenses 299,139 131,686 16,575 3,182 347
(Loss) income from operations (41,058) (28,142) 933 (285) (184)
Interest expense (27,492) (23,229) (3,040)
Interest income and other, net 19,551 9,217 251 36
Minority interest in net earnings of subsidiaries (142) (287) (193) (185)
Loss before (provision) benefit for income taxes and extraordinary losses (49,141) (42,441) (2,049) (434) (184)
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (214) 4,491 473 (45) 74
Loss before extraordinary losses $ (49,355) $ (37,950) $ (1,576) $ (479)    $ (110)
Basic and diluted loss per common share amounts before extraordinary losses (3) $ (.33) $ (0.48) $ (0.03) $ (0.01) $ (0.00)
Basic and diluted common shares outstanding (3)     149,749      79,786   48,732   48,732      48,732

Other Operating Data:
Tower cash flow (4) $ 102,224 $ 41,793 $ 8,795  $ 1,535 $ 103
EBITDA (4) 91,481 36,694 7,259      705        (127)
EBITDA margin 35.4 % 35.4 % 41.5 % 24.3 % (N/A)
After-tax cash flow (4) 83,184 14,114 4,750 511 (53)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 25,212 $  186,175  $ 4,596  $ 2,373     $    12
Working capital (deficiency), excluding current portion of long-term debt 19,156      93,602   (2,208)     663         (40)
Property and equipment, net 1,092,346 449,476  117,618   19,710       3,759
Total assets 3,018,866   1,502,343  255,357   37,118       3,863
Long-term debt, including current portion 740,822 281,129 90,176 4,535
Total stockholders’ equity 2,145,083 1,091,746 153,208   29,728       3,769

Selected Financial Data (1)

14
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(1)  We were organized on July 17, 1995.

(2) We use the term “tower separation expenses” to refer to the one-time expenses incurred as a
result of our separation from American Radio. We use the term “development expenses” to
refer to costs incurred in connection with the integration of acquisitions and development of
new business initiatives. Amounts prior to 1999 were immaterial.

(3) Basic and diluted loss per common share amounts before extraordinary losses have been com-
puted using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each period presented.
Shares outstanding upon consummation of our separation from American Radio (the “ATC
Separation”) are assumed to be outstanding for all periods prior to June 4, 1998. Shares issuable
upon exercise of options and other common stock equivalents have been excluded from the
computations as the effect is anti-dilutive.

(4) We use the term “tower cash flow” to mean operating income (loss) before depreciation and
amortization, tower separation, development and corporate general and administrative expenses.
We use “EBITDA” to mean operating income  (loss) before depreciation and amortization and
tower separation expense. “After-tax cash flow” means income (loss) before extraordinary loss-
es, plus depreciation and amortization, less preferred stock dividends. We do not consider tower
cash flow, EBITDA and after-tax cash flow as a substitute for alternative measures of operating results
or cash flow from operating activities or as a measure of our profitability or liquidity.These meas-
ures of performance are not calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (“GAAP”). However, we have included them because they are generally used in the com-
munications site industry as a measure of a company’s operating performance. More specifically,
we believe they can assist in comparing company performances on a consistent basis without
regard to depreciation and amortization. Our concern is that depreciation and amortization can
vary significantly among companies depending on accounting methods, particularly where acqui-
sitions are involved, or non-operating factors such as historical cost bases.We believe tower cash
flow is useful because it enables you to compare tower performance before the effect of tower
separation, development and corporate general and administrative expenses that do not relate
directly to such performance.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS

OF OPERATIONS.

General
This discussion contains “forward-looking statements”, including statements concerning projections,
plans, objectives, future events or performance and underlying assumptions and other statements
which are other than statements of historical fact.Various factors affect our results and could cause
our actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. Such
factors include:

• the outcome of our growth strategy;
• future results of operations;
• liquidity and capital expenditures;
• construction and acquisition activities;
• debt levels and the ability to obtain financing and service debt;
• regulatory developments and competitive conditions in the communications site and wire-

less carrier industries;
• projected growth of the wireless communications and wireless carrier industries;
• dependence on demand for satellites for internet data transmission; and
• general economic conditions.

As we were a wholly-owned subsidiary of American Radio through June 4, 1998, the consolidated
financial statements may not reflect our results of operations or financial position had we been an
independent public company during such periods. Because of our relatively brief operating history
and the large number of recent acquisitions, the following discussion will not necessarily reveal all
significant developing or continuing trends.

We are a wireless communications and broadcast infrastructure company with three operating
segments.

• We operate a leading network of communications towers and are the largest independent
operator of broadcast towers in the United States.

• We provide comprehensive network development services for wireless service providers
and broadcasters.

• We operate a leading teleport business, which transmits Internet, voice, data and video
communications worldwide.

During the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, we acquired various communications
sites, related businesses and teleports for aggregate preliminary purchase prices of approximately
$1.2 billion, $853.8 million and $180.4 million, respectively. Management expects that acquisitions
consummated to date will have a material impact on future revenues, expenses and income from
operations. In addition, certain historical financial information presented below and elsewhere in this
document does not reflect the impact of our construction program to any significant extent because
most of that activity is of more recent origin and is expected to continue during 2000 and thereafter.

15
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31, 1999 and 1998
As of December 31, 1999, we operated approximately 5,100 communications sites, as compared to approximately 2,300 communications sites as of December 31, 1998. See the notes to the consolidat-
ed financial statements for a description of the acquisitions consummated in 1999 and 1998.These transactions have significantly affected operations for the year ended December 31, 1999 as compared
to the year ended December 31, 1998.

Year Ended December 31, Amount of Increase Percent Increase
(In thousands) 1999 1998 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Rental and management revenues $ 135,303 $ 60,505   $ 74,798      124 %

Services revenues 90,416    23,315     67,101      288

Internet, voice, data and video transmission revenues 32,362 19,724 12,638       64

Total operating revenues 258,081   103,544 154,537      149

Rental and management expenses 62,441    29,455     32,986      112

Services expenses 69,318    19,479     49,839      256

Internet, voice, data and video transmission expenses 24,098    12,817     11,281       88

Total operating expenses excluding depreciation and amortization, tower separation expense,

development expense and corporate general and administrative expense 155,857    61,751     94,106      152

Depreciation and amortization 132,539    52,064     80,475      155

Tower separation expense 12,772    (12,772)     N/A

Development expense 1,607                1,607     N/A

Corporate general and administrative expense 9,136     5,099      4,037       79

Interest expense 27,492    23,229      4,263       18

Interest income and other, net 19,551     9,217     10,334      112

Minority interest in net earnings of subsidiaries 142       287       (145)     (51)

Income tax (provision) benefit (214)    4,491     (4,705)    (105)

Extraordinary loss on extinguishment of debt, net 1,372     1,382        (10)      (1)

Extraordinary loss on redemption of preferred stock, net 7,510      (7,510)      N/A

Net loss $ (50,727) $ (46,842) $ 3,885     8 %

Tower cash flow $ 102,224  $ 41,793 $ 60,431      145 %

EBITDA $ 91,481  $ 36,694 $ 54,787      149 %

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

16
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Rental and Management Revenue
Rental and management revenue for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $135.3 million, an
increase of $74.8 million from the year ended December 31, 1998. The majority of the increase,
$56.4 million, is attributable to revenue generated from acquisitions consummated and/or towers
constructed subsequent to December 31, 1998.The remaining factor contributing to the additional
revenue is an increase in comparable tower revenue of $18.4 million during 1999 for towers that
existed during 1998.

Services Revenue
Services revenue for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $90.4 million, an increase of $67.1
million from the year ended December 31, 1998. The primary reason for the increase is due to the
$66.7 million of revenue earned after the merger with OmniAmerica, Inc.The remaining component
of the increase is attributable to revenue generated from our existing services business of approx-
imately $0.4 million.

IVDV Revenue
Internet, voice, data and video (IVDV) revenue for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $32.4
million, an increase of $12.6 million from the year ended December 31, 1998.The primary reason
for the increase is attributed to approximately $9.9 million of revenue earned during 1999 as a
result of acquisitions consummated in 1999.The remaining component of the increase, $2.7 million,
is due to an increase in revenue from the IVDV business that existed at December 31, 1998.

Rental and Management, Services and IVDV Expenses
Rental and management, Services and IVDV expenses for the year ended December 31, 1999 were
$62.4 million, $69.3 million and $24.1 million, respectively, an increase of $33.0 million, $49.8 million
and $11.3 million, respectively, from the year ended December 31, 1998.The primary reasons for
the increase in these expenses are essentially the same as those discussed above under each respective
revenue segment.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $132.5 million, an
increase of $80.5 million from the year ended December 31, 1998. A component of the increase is
attributable to an increase in depreciation expense of $30.5 million resulting from our purchase,
construction and/or acquisition of approximately $693.4 million of property and equipment from
January 1, 1999 to December 31, 1999.The remaining component of the increase is attributable to an
increase in amortization expense of $50.0 million, resulting from our amortization of approximately
$751.7 million of goodwill and other intangible assets related to acquisitions consummated during
the period from January 1, 1999 to December 31, 1999.

Tower Separation Expense
We completed our separation from American Radio in 1998. No additional expenses related to the
separation were incurred in 1999, nor are any expected to occur in the future. See note 1 of the
consolidated financial statements for a description of tower separation expense.

Corporate General Administrative Expense
Corporate general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $9.1
million, an increase of $4.0 million from the year ended December 31, 1998.The majority of this
increase resulted from higher personnel ($2.5 million) and marketing ($0.5 million) costs associated
with our growing revenue base and market position.The remaining component of the increase is
attributable to overall increases in other administrative expenses incurred in supporting our growth.

Development Expense
Development expense for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $1.6 million. These expenses
include the costs incurred for abandoned acquisitions, the integration of acquisitions and new busi-
ness initiatives.

Interest Expense
Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $27.5 million, an increase of $4.3 million
from the year ended December 31, 1998. The increase is primarily attributable to an increase of
interest on our outstanding debt obligations ($8.9 million), amortization of deferred financing costs
($0.7 million) and interest on notes payable related to acquisitions ($0.5 million). These increases
were offset by a decrease of $3.1 million in interest incurred during 1998 on our outstanding
redeemable preferred stock (which was redeemed in July 1998), as well as an increase in interest
capitalized during the year ended December 31, 1999.

Interest Income and Other, Net
Interest income and other, net for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $19.6 million, an increase
of $10.3 million from the year ended December 31, 1998.The increase is primarily related to an
increase in interest earned on invested cash on hand ($6.7 million), interest earned on notes receivable
($1.4 million) and interest earned on security/escrow deposits ($2.2 million).

Income Taxes
The income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 1999 was $0.2 million, a decrease of
$4.7 million from the income tax benefit recorded for the year ended December 31, 1998. The
decrease in the tax benefit is due to an increase in nondeductible permanent items (principally
goodwill amortization).The increase in nondeductible permanent items occurred as a result of the
consummation of several mergers and acquisitions in 1999. As of December 31, 1999 we have a
net deferred tax asset of $116.0 million. In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax asset, we
have analyzed our forecast of future taxable income and concluded that recoverability of the net
deferred tax asset is more likely than not.The realization of the deferred tax asset is not dependent
upon significant changes in the current relationship between income reported for financial and tax
purposes, or material asset sales or other transactions not in the ordinary course of business.

Extraordinary Losses on Extinguishment of Debt
We incurred an extraordinary loss on the extinguishment of debt in 1999 of $1.4 million due to
the early repayment of one of our term loans. We recorded an extraordinary loss of $1.4 million
in 1998 due to the refinancing of our then existing credit facility.We also recorded an extraordinary
loss of $7.5 million in 1998 due to the redemption of our interim preferred stock.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Years Ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 
As of December 31, 1998, we operated approximately 2,300 communications sites, as compared to approximately 700 communications sites as of December 31, 1997. See the notes to consolidated finan-
cial statements for a description of the acquisitions consummated in 1998 and 1997.These transactions have significantly affected operations for the year ended December 31, 1998 as compared to the
year ended December 31, 1997.

Year Ended December 31, Amount of Increase Percent Increase
(In thousands) 1998 1997 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Rental and management revenues $ 60,505 $ 13,302 $ 47,203 355 %

Services revenues 23,315 2,122 21,193 999

Internet, voice, data and video transmission revenues 19,724    2,084 17,640 846

Total operating revenues 103,544   17,508 86,036 491

Rental and management expenses 29,455    6,080 23,375 384

Services expenses 19,479    1,360 18,119 1,332

Internet, voice, data and video transmission expenses 12,817    1,273 11,544 907

Total operating expenses excluding depreciation and amortization, tower separation expense,

development expense and corporate general and administrative expense 61,751    8,713 53,038 609

Depreciation and amortization 52,064    6,326 45,738 723

Tower separation expense 12,772              12,772 N/A

Corporate general and administrative expense 5,099    1,536 3,563 232

Interest expense 23,229    3,040 20,189 664

Interest income and other, net 9,217      251 8,966 3,572

Minority interest in net earnings of subsidiaries 287      193 94 49

Income tax benefit 4,491      473 4,018 849

Extraordinary loss on extinguishment of debt, net 1,382      694 688 99

Extraordinary loss on redemption of preferred stock, net 7,510       7,510 N/A

Net loss $ (46,842) $ (2,270) $ 44,572 1,964 %

Tower cash flow $ 41,793 $ 8,795 $ 32,998 375 %

EBITDA $ 36,694 $ 7,259 $ 29,435 405 %

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

18



A
M

E
R

I
C

A
N

T
O

W
E

R
C

O
R

P
O

R
A

T
I

O
N

Rental and Management Revenue
Rental and management revenue for the year ended December 31, 1998 was $60.5 million, an
increase of $47.2 million from the year ended December 31, 1997.The majority of the increase is
attributable to revenue generated from acquisitions consummated and/or towers constructed sub-
sequent to December 31, 1997, coupled with an increase in comparable tower revenue for towers
that existed in 1997.

Services Revenue
Services revenue for the year ended December 31, 1998 was $23.3 million, an increase of $21.2
million from the year ended December 31, 1997.The primary reason for the increase is due to the
$21.0 million of revenue earned in 1998 from operations acquired in the Gearon & Co. Inc. merger.
The remaining portion of the increase is due to revenue generated in 1998 from this segment’s
business that existed as of December 31, 1997.

IVDV Revenue
IVDV revenue for the year ended December 31, 1998 was $19.7 million, an increase of $17.6 million
from the year ended December 31,1997.The primary reason for the increase is attributed to an increase
of approximately $11.5 million of revenue related to the IVDV business that existed at December 31,
1997.The remaining component of the increase, $6.1 million, is due to an acquisition that closed in
the second quarter of 1998.

Rental and Management, Services and IVDV Expenses
Rental and management, Services and IVDV expenses for the year ended December 31, 1998 were
$29.5 million, $19.5 million and $12.8 million, respectively, an increase of $23.4 million, $18.1 million and
$11.5 million, respectively, from the year ended December 31, 1997.The primary reasons for the
increase in these expenses are essentially the same as those discussed above under each respective
revenue segment.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 1998 was $52.1 million, an increase of
$45.7 million from the year ended December 31, 1997. A component of the increase is attributable to
an increase in depreciation expense of $15.8 million resulting primarily from our acquisition and con-
struction of approximately $346.8 million of property and equipment from January 1, 1998 to December
31, 1998.The remaining component of the increase is attributable to an increase in amortization of $29.9
million, resulting from our amortization of approximately $628.0 million of goodwill and other intangible
assets related to acquisitions consummated from January 1, 1998 to December 31, 1998.

Tower Separation Expense
We started and completed our separation from American Radio in 1998. We did not incur any
expenses related to the separation in 1997. See note 1 of the consolidated financial statements for
a description of tower separation expense.

Corporate General and Administrative Expense
Corporate general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 1998 was $5.1
million, an increase of $3.6 million from the year ended December 31, 1997. The majority of the

increase is due to higher personnel and marketing costs associated with our growing revenue base
and market position.The remaining component of the increase is attributable to overall increases in
other administrative expenses incurred in supporting our growth.

Interest Expense
Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 1998 was $23.2 million, an increase of $20.2 million
from the year ended December 31, 1997.The increase is primarily attributable to our increased
borrowing levels under our credit facility and interest incurred on our redeemable preferred stock.

Interest Income and Other, Net
Interest income and other, net for the year ended December 31, 1998 was $9.2 million, an increase
of $9.0 million from the year ended December 31, 1997.The increase is primarily related to interest
earned on invested cash on hand, interest earned on notes receivable and interest earned on security/
escrow deposits related to several acquisitions that we consummated in the latter part of 1998.

Income Tax Benefit
The income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 1998 was $4.5 million, an increase of $4.0
million from the income tax benefit recorded for the year ended December 31, 1997.The increase
in the tax benefit is due to an overall increase in our pre-tax loss. As of December 31, 1998 we
had a net deferred tax asset of $110.0 million. In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax asset,
we analyzed our forecast of future taxable income and concluded that recoverability of the net
deferred tax asset is more likely than not.The realization of the deferred tax asset is not dependent upon
significant changes in the current relationship between income reported for financial and tax purposes,
or material asset sales or other transactions not in the ordinary course of business.

Extraordinary Losses on Extinguishment of Debt
We incurred extraordinary losses on extinguishment of debt of $1.4 and $0.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, due to the refinancing of our then existing credit
facilities. In addition, we incurred an extraordinary loss of $7.5 million in 1998 due to the redemption
of our interim preferred stock.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our liquidity needs arise from our acquisition-related activities, debt service, working capital and
capital expenditures associated principally with our construction program. As of December 31, 1999 we
maintained approximately $25.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and working capital of approx-
imately $14.4 million. Historically, we have met our operational liquidity needs with internally generated
funds and have financed the acquisition of tower related properties and our construction program,
including related working capital needs, with a combination of capital funds from sales of our equity
and debt securities (including sales prior to the ATC Separation) and bank borrowings. See the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. For the year ended December 31, 1999, cash flows from
operating activities were $97.0 million, as compared to $18.4 million of cash flows from operating
activities in 1998.The change is primarily attributable to the favorable cash flow generated from con-
summated acquisitions in 1999 and 1998.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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For the year ended December 31, 1999 cash flows used for investing activities were $1.1 billion
million as compared to $350.4 million for the year ended December 31, 1998.The increase in 1999
is due primarily to an increase in property and equipment expenditures of approximately $167.8
million coupled with the increase in spending on mergers and acquisitions (which includes advances
and deposits) during 1999 of approximately $619.1 million.

For the year ended December 31, 1999, cash flows provided by financing activities were $879.7
million as compared to $513.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1998. The increase in 1999
is due principally to the impact of borrowings under our credit arrangements, the issuance of the
2.25% and 6.25% Convertible Notes, and the sale of our common stock.

During the year ended December 31, 1999, we had capital expenditures of approximately
$294.2 million primarily related to construction activities. We completed construction on approxi-
mately 1,000 towers for our own account during this period. Our 2000 business plan calls for total
capital expenditures of approximately $415.0 million. Included in that plan (exclusive of broadcast
towers, but inclusive of our commitment under build-to-suit agreements) is the construction of
approximately 1,200 towers for our own account at a cost of between $196.0 million and $240.0
million. In addition, the plan includes the construction of approximately 20 broadcast towers at an
estimated cost of between $50.0 million and $70.0 million. Remaining capital expenditures relate to
enhancements in information technology, infrastructure and structural improvements. We believe
that we have sufficient funds available to us to finance our current plans and pending acquisitions.

We expect that the consummated acquisitions and current and future construction activities will
have a material impact on liquidity. We believe that the acquisition activities, once integrated, will
have a favorable impact on liquidity and will offset the initial effects of the funding requirements.We
also believe that the construction activities may initially have an adverse effect on our future liquidity
as newly constructed towers will initially decrease overall liquidity. However, as such sites become
fully operational and achieve higher utilization, they should generate cash flow, and in the long-term,
increase liquidity.

Financing Transactions
New Credit Facilities. In January 2000, we entered into a new loan agreement with our lending banks
and other financial institutions relating to credit facilities of $2.0 billion.The credit facilities are with
several of our principal operating subsidiaries (the “borrower subsidiaries”) and consist of three sep-
arate types of loans:

• a $650.0 million reducing revolving credit facility maturing on June 30, 2007,
• a $850.0 million multiple-draw term loan maturing on June 30, 2007, and
• a $500.0 million term loan maturing on December 31, 2007.

The credit facilities also contemplate possible additional borrowings of up to $500.0 million,
although the banks are not committed to fund those borrowings. Borrowings under the credit facil-
ities are limited by (a) the cash flow of the borrower subsidiaries and the Restricted Subsidiaries,
(b) their construction costs of developing towers, and (c) the aggregate number of developing towers
and AirTouch towers acquired by them. As of March 9, 2000, the $500.0 million term loan and

$230.0 million of the multiple draw term loan were outstanding. Our amount available under the
credit facilities, giving effect to the financial tests and borrowing ratios, as of March 9, 2000 was
approximately $492.0 million.

The credit facilities contain certain financial and operational covenants and other restrictions
with which the borrower subsidiaries and the Restricted Subsidiaries must comply, whether or not
there are any borrowings outstanding.These include restrictions on certain types of acquisitions, not
including towers and communications sites, indebtedness, liens, capital expenditures, investments in
Unrestricted Subsidiaries and the ability of the borrower subsidiaries and the Restricted Subsidiaries
to pay dividends or make other distributions. The credit facilities also require the borrower sub-
sidiaries to comply with certain financial ratios.The credit facilities include two events of default that
have the effect of restricting debt of the parent company and requiring it to invest the net cash pro-
ceeds of any issue of capital stock (other than pursuant to permitted acquisitions and up to $2.0
million under stock option plans) or debt as equity in the borrower subsidiaries.

We and the Restricted Subsidiaries have guaranteed all of the loans.We have secured the loans by
liens on substantially all assets of the borrower subsidiaries and the Restricted Subsidiaries and all out-
standing capital stock and other debt and equity interests of all of our direct and indirect subsidiaries.

February 2000 Convertible Note Issue. In February 2000, we issued $450.0 million principal amount of
5% Convertible Notes due 2010.The 5% notes are convertible into shares of Class A common stock
at a conversion price of $51.50 per share.We may not redeem the 5% notes prior to February 20,
2003. Holders may require us to repurchase all or any of their 5% notes on February 20, 2007 at
their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest. We may, at our option, elect to
pay the repurchase price in cash or shares of Class A common stock, or any combination thereof.

October 1999 Convertible Note Issue. In October 1999, we issued 6.25% Convertible Notes due 2009
in an aggregate principal amount of $300.0 million and 2.25% Convertible Notes due 2009 at an issue
price of $300.1 million, representing 70.52% of their principal amount at maturity of $425.5 million.
The difference between the issue price and the principal amount at maturity of the 2.25% notes will
be accreted each year as interest expense in our financial statements.The 6.25% notes are convertible
into shares of Class A common stock at a conversion price of $24.40 per share.The 2.25% notes are
convertible into shares of Class A common stock at a conversion price of $24.00 per share.

We may not redeem the 6.25% notes prior to October 22, 2002 or the 2.25% notes prior to
October 22, 2003. Holders may require us to repurchase all or any of their 6.25% notes on October
22, 2006 at their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest. Holders may require us
to repurchase all or any of their 2.25% notes on October 22, 2003 at $802.93, which is the issue price
plus the accreted original issue discount, together with accrued and unpaid interest. We may, at our
option, elect to pay the repurchase price of each series in cash or shares of Class A common stock,
or any combination thereof.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Debt service requires a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations. Accordingly, our
leverage could make us vulnerable to a downturn in the operating performance of our tower prop-
erties or in economic conditions.We believe that our cash flows from operations will be sufficient
to meet our debt service and covenant requirements under the credit facilities. If such cash flow
were not sufficient to meet such debt service and covenant requirements, we might be required to
sell equity securities, refinance our obligations or dispose of one or more of our properties in order
to make such scheduled payments.We may not be able to affect any of such transactions on favorable
terms. We believe that we have sufficient financial resources available to us, including borrowings
under our credit facilities, to finance operations for the foreseeable future.

ATC Separation. As of December 31, 1999 we continue to be obligated under the ATC Separation
agreement for certain tax indemnification liabilities to CBS Corporation. See the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements.

Pending and Other Transactions. See the notes 5 and 14 of the consolidated financial statements.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (FAS) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” which was amended in May 1999 by FAS No. 137 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities—Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133—An
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.”This Statement establishes accounting and reporting stan-
dards for derivative instruments. It requires that an entity recognize all derivatives as either assets
or liabilities in the statement of financial position, and measure those instruments at fair value.The
accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative (that is, gains and losses) will depend on the
entity’s intended use of the derivative and its resulting designation (as defined in the Statement).
FAS No. 133, as amended, will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2001.We are currently
in the process of evaluating the impact FAS No. 133 will have on our consolidated financial state-
ments.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
As of and for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, we were exposed to market risk from
changes in interest rates on long-term debt obligations.We attempted to reduce these risks by uti-
lizing derivative financial instruments, namely interest rate caps and swaps. All derivative financial
instruments are for purposes other than trading.

During 1999, we issued the 2.25% and 6.25% notes and received net proceeds of approximately
$584.0 million (see the notes to the consolidated financial statements). A portion of the net pro-
ceeds received was used to pay down outstanding debt under our credit facilities. Accordingly, the
outstanding debt related to the credit facilities has decreased by approximately $185.0 million from
December 31, 1998 to December 31, 1999. In addition, during 1999 we sold interest rate swaps
with total notional amounts of $24.9 million and had an interest rate CAP with a notional amount
of $7.0 million expire.

The table on page 22 provides information as of December 31, 1999, about our market risk
exposure associated with changing interest rates. For long-term debt obligations, the table presents
principal cash flows and related average interest rates by contractual maturity dates. For interest rate
caps and swaps, the table presents notional principal amounts and weighted-average interest rates
by contractual maturity dates.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Principal Payments and Interest Rate Detail by Contractual Maturity Dates (In Thousands) As of December 31, 1999 

Long-Term Debt 2000  2001   2002    2003   2005   Thereafter  Total    Fair Value

Principal Amount(a) $ 270 $ 7,069 $ 11,597 $ 13,878 $ 18,411  $ 679,534 $ 730,759 $ 730,759
Average Interest Rate(a)

Aggregate Notional Amounts Associated with Interest Rate Caps and Swaps in Place During the Year and Interest Rate Detail by Contractual Maturity Dates (In Thousands)

Interest Rate CAPS
Notional Amount $66,860(c)
Weighted-Average Fixed Rate(b) 8.82 %

Principal Payments and Interest Rate Detail by Contractual Maturity Dates (In Thousands) As of December 31, 1998 

Long-Term Debt 1999  2000   2001    2002   2003   Thereafter  Total    Fair Value

Principal Amount(a) $ 10,500 $ 17,125  $ 20,250     $ 227,125  $ 275,000 $ 275,000
Average Interest Rate(a)

Aggregate Notional Principal Amounts Associated with Interest Rate Caps and Swaps in Place During the Year and Interest Rate Detail by Contractual Maturity Dates (In Thousands)

Interest Rate CAPS
Notional Amount $ 73,860(d) $ 66,860(c)
Weighted-Average Fixed Rate(b) 8.79 % 8.82 %

Interest Rate SWAPS
Notional Amount $ 24,890 $ 24,890 $24,890(e) $ 17,550  $17,550(f) $ (369)
Weighted-Average Fixed Rate(b) 6.04 % 6.04 % 6.04 % 5.9 % 5.9 %

(a) December 31, 1999 long-term debt consists of our credit facilities existing at December 31, 1999 ($90.0 million), the 2.25% and the 6.25% notes ($602.3 million) and a mortgage payable ($38.5 million).
Interest on the credit facilities is payable in accordance with the applicable London Interbank Offering Rate (LIBOR) agreement or quarterly, and accrues at our option either at LIBOR plus margin (as defined)
or the Base Rate plus margin (as defined).The interest rate in effect at December 31, 1999 for the borrower subsidiaries revolving credit facility was 9.25%. For the year ended December 31, 1999, the
weighted average interest rate under the credit facilities was 7.94%.The 2.25% and 6.25% notes each bear interest (after giving effect to the accretion of the original discount on the 2.25% notes) at 6.25%,
which is payable semiannually on April 15 and October 15 of each year beginning April 15, 2000.The mortgage payable bears interest at 8.42% and is payable on a monthly basis.

December 31, 1998 long-term debt consists of our credit facilities (see the notes to the consolidated financial statements). Interest on the credit facilities is payable in accordance with the applicable LIBOR agree-
ment or quarterly, and accrues, at our option, either at the LIBOR plus margin (as defined) or the Base Rate plus margin (as defined).The interest rate in effect at December 31, 1998 for our term loan and the
Borrower Subsidiaries term loan and revolving credit facility was 8.71% and 7.30%, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 1998, the weighted average interest rate of the credit facilities was 7.7%.

(b) Represents the weighted-average-fixed rate of interest based on contract notional amount as a percentage of total notional amounts in a given year.

(c) Includes notional amounts of $21,500, $23,750 and $21,610, which will expire in January, April and July 2000, respectively.

(d) Includes notional amount of $7,000, which expired in November 1999.

(e) Includes notional amount of $7,340, which will expire in January 2001.

(f) Includes notional amount of $17,550, which will expire in June 2003.

We maintain a portion of our cash and cash equivalents in short-term financial instruments which are subject to interest rate risks. Due to the relatively short duration of such instruments and our expectation
that such investments will not be significant on an ongoing basis, fluctuations in interest rates with respect to such investments should not materially affect our financial condition or results of operations.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF AMERICAN TOWER CORPORATION:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of American Tower Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the related consolidated

statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999.These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.We believe that

our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the results of its

operations and its cashflows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Boston, Massachusetts
March 1, 2000

Independent Auditors’ Report
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(In thousands, except share data) 1999 1998

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $   25,212 $  186,175
Accounts receivable, net 58,482 15,506
Prepaid and other current assets 13,835       4,065
Inventories 11,262
Costs in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts and unbilled receivables 13,363       1,344
Deferred income taxes 1,718         495
Due from CBS Corporation 15,535

Total current assets 139,407     207,585
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 1,092,346     449,476
GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, net 1,403,897     718,575
NOTES RECEIVABLE (including $60,000 due from related party) 118,802       7,585
DEPOSITS AND OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS 134,568       9,704
INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES 15,594
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 114,252     109,418
TOTAL $ 3,018,866 $ 1,502,343

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt $    4,736 $ 1,652
Accounts payable 25,564       6,696
Accrued expenses 32,732      11,347
Accrued tower construction costs 37,671      16,099
Accrued interest 6,769       1,132
Billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts and unearned revenue 17,515       6,610
Accrued separation costs 5,058
Due to CBS Corporation 45,127
Accrued acquisition purchase price 21,914

Total current liabilities 124,987     115,635
LONG-TERM DEBT 736,086     279,477
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 4,057       1,429

Total liabilities 865,130     396,541
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 7 and 14)
MINORITY INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES 8,653       4,116
REDEEMABLE CLASS A COMMON STOCK—$.01 par value, 336,250 shares issued and outstanding at estimated redemption value of $29.56 per share 9,940

Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred Stock; $0.01 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding
Class A Common Stock; $.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 144,965,623 shares and 96,291,111 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 1,450         963
Class B Common Stock; $.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 8,387,910 shares and 9,001,060 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 84          90
Class C Common Stock; $.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; 2,422,804 shares and 3,002,008 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 24          30
Additional paid-in capital 2,245,482   1,140,365
Accumulated deficit (100,429)    (49,702)

Less: treasury stock (76,403 shares issued at cost) (1,528)
Total stockholders’ equity 2,145,083   1,091,746

TOTAL $ 3,018,866  $ 1,502,343 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 1999      1998     1997

REVENUES

Rental and management $ 135,303  $ 60,505  $ 13,302
Services 90,416    23,315    2,122
Internet, voice, data and video transmission 32,362    19,724    2,084

Total operating revenues 258,081   103,544   17,508
OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses excluding depreciation and amortization, tower separation,
development and corporate general and administrative expense:
Rental and management 62,441    29,455    6,080
Services 69,318    19,479    1,360
Internet, voice, data and video transmission 24,098    12,817    1,273

Depreciation and amortization 132,539    52,064    6,326
Tower separation expense 12,772
Development expense 1,607
Corporate general and administrative expense 9,136     5,099    1,536

Total operating expenses 299,139   131,686   16,575
(LOSS) INCOME FROM OPERATIONS (41,058)  (28,142)     933
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Interest expense (27,492) (23,229)  (3,040)
Interest income and other, net (See Note 5) 19,551 9,217      251
Minority interest in net earnings of subsidiaries (142) (287)    (193)

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSE (8,083)  (14,299)  (2,982)
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND EXTRAORDINARY LOSSES (49,141)  (42,441)  (2,049)
(PROVISION) BENEFIT FOR INCOME TAXES (214)    4,491      473
LOSS BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY LOSSES (49,355)  (37,950)  (1,576)
EXTRAORDINARY LOSS ON EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT, NET OF INCOME TAX BENEFIT OF $914 IN 1999,

$921 IN 1998 AND $463 IN 1997, RESPECTIVELY (1,372)   (1,382)    (694)
EXTRAORDINARY LOSS ON REDEMPTION OF INTERIM PREFERRED STOCK, NET OF INCOME TAX BENEFIT OF $5,000 (7,510)
NET LOSS $ (50,727) $ (46,842) $ (2,270)
BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER COMMON SHARE AMOUNTS

Loss before extraordinary losses $ (0.33) $ (0.48) $ (0.03)
Extraordinary losses (0.01) (0.11)   (0.01)
Net loss $ (0.34) $ (0.59) $ (0.05)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING 149,749 79,786   48,732

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Years Ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997
(In thousands, except share data) COMMON STOCK

Class A Class B Class C Treasury Stock Additional
Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding Notes Paid-in Accumulated

Shares    Amount   Shares    Amount   Shares   Amount   Shares    Amount   Shares    Amount  Receivable Capital Deficit Total

BALANCE, JANUARY 1, 1997 3,000 $ 30,318 $ (590) $ 29,728
Contributions from ARS:

Cash 143,073 143,073
Non-cash 51 51

Transfers to ARS:
Cash (16,650) (16,650)
Non-cash (724) (724)

Recapitalization (Note 10) (3,000) 29,667,883 $ 297 4,670,626 $ 47 1,295,518 $ 13 (357)
Net loss (2,270) (2,270)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1997 29,667,883 297 4,670,626 47 1,295,518 13 155,711 (2,860) 153,208
Contributions from ARS:

Cash 56,918 56,918
Non-cash 6,489 6,489

Transfers to ARS:
Cash (51,858) (51,858)

Issuance of common stock under stock purchase
agreement, net of issuance costs of $630 1,350,050 14  4,649,950    46    2,000,000    20 $ (49,375) 79,290 29,995

Issuance of common stock—Gearon merger                       5,333,333 53 47,947 48,000
Reduction of common stock redemption obligation 383,750 4 9,740 9,744
Issuance of common stock—ATC merger 28,782,386    287 297,192 297,479
Issuance of common stock-—Wauka merger 1,430,881     14 28,603 28,617
Exercise of options                          899,504      9 203,709     2 2,727 2,738
Repayment stock purchase agreement notes                                                                                                        49,375 49,375
ATC Separation tax liability (61,715) (61,715)
ATC Separation working capital adjustment (50,000) (50,000)
ATC Separation share conversion 111,761      1   (347,159)   (3) 2
Issuance of common stock—July offering, net of 

issuance costs of $ 29,806                    27,861,987    279 624,672 624,951
Share class exchanges 469,576      5   (176,066)   (2)    (293,510)   (3)
Accretion of redeemable stock (1,555) (1,555)
Tax liability from conversion of CBS securities (5,021) (5,021)
Tax benefit of stock options 1,223 1,223
Net loss (46,842) (46,842)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1998 96,291,111    963  9,001,060    90    3,002,008    30                         1,140,365 (49,702) 1,091,746
Cash contributions from ARS 507 507
Adjustment to ATC Separation tax liability 12,003 12,003
Transfers/payments to ARS/CBS (1,070) (1.070)
Issuance of common stock—Omni merger 16,750,554    168 364,020 364,188
Issuance of common stock—TeleCom merger 3,940,874     39 82,015 82,054
Wauka escrow release—treasury stock (76,403)  $ (1,528) (1,528)
Issuance of common stock—February offerings 26,200,000    262 630,889 631,151
Expiration of redeemable common stock 336,250      3 9,937 9,940
Issuance of options—acquisition 1,794 1,794
Exercise of options 254,480      3 3,573 3,576
Share class exchanges 1,192,354     12   (613,150)   (6)    (579,204)   (6)
Tax benefit of stock options 1,449 1,449
Net loss (50,727) (50,727)
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1999 144,965,623 $1,450 8,387,910   $ 84    2,422,804 $ 24     (76,403)  $( 1,528) $ 2,245,482 $(100,429) $ 2,145,083
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands) 1999        1998       1997

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (50,727) $ (46,842) $ (2,270)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 132,539 52,064 6,326
Minority interest in net earnings of subsidiaries 142        287       193
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,466      1,629       188
Provision for losses on accounts receivable 2,639      1,136       124
Extraordinary losses 2,286     14,813     1,157
Amortization of debt discount 2,642        261
Dividends on preferred stock. 3,117
Deferred income taxes (2,054)   (10,412)     (316)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (17,368)   (11,042)   (3,156)
Costs in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts and unbilled receivables (5,919)    (1,185)
Prepaid and other current assets (5,503)    (1,553)      159
Inventories. (6,210)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 31,516     13,577     5,080
Accrued interest 5,436        (47)      914
Billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contacts and unearned revenue 3,981      1,311     1,500
Other long-term liabilities. 2,145      1,315        14

Cash provided by operating activities 97,011     18,429     9,913
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for purchase of property and equipment and construction activities (294,242)  (126,455)  (20,614)
Payments for acquisitions, (net of cash acquired) (588,384)  (208,717) (184,076)
Advances of notes receivable (119,282)   (12,140)  (10,962)
Proceeds from notes receivable 1,587      2,001
Deposits, investments and other long-term assets (137,379)    (5,066)   (1,131)

Cash used for investing activities (1,137,700)  (350,377) (216,783)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings under notes payable and credit facilities 224,779    205,500   151,000
Repayments of notes payable and credit facilities (512,856)  (156,667)  (65,359)
Proceeds from issuance of debt securities 600,063
Net proceeds from equity offerings and stock options 634,727    707,059
Cash transfers to CBS (50,000)  (221,665)
Cash transfers from CBS 1,248
Net proceeds from preferred stock 300,000
Redemption of preferred stock (303,117)
Contributions from ARS 507     56,918   143,073
Cash transfers to ARS. (51,858)  (16,650)
Distributions to minority interest (396)      (393)     (419)
Deferred financing costs (18,346)   (22,250)   (2,553)

Cash provided by financing activities 879,726    513,527   209,092
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (160,963)   181,579     2,222
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 186,175      4,596     2,374
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 25,212  $ 186,175 $ 4,596
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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1. BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business and Corporate Structure—American Tower Corporation and subsidiaries (collectively, ATC
or the Company) was a wholly-owned subsidiary of American Radio Systems Corporation (ARS,
American Radio or the Former Parent) until consummation of the spin-off of the Company from
American Radio on June 4, 1998 (the ATC Separation). American Tower, Inc. (ATI), which is a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and American Tower, L.P. (ATLP), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, held substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of the
business. ATI and ATLP are collectively referred to as the Borrower Subsidiaries.The Company was
incorporated on July 17, 1995 (Incorporation) for the purpose of acquiring, developing, marketing,
managing and operating wireless communications sites throughout the United States for use by
wireless communications providers and television and radio broadcasters.

The Company is a leading independent owner, operator and developer of broadcast and wire-
less communications sites in North America. As of December 31, 1999, the Company owned and
operated approximately 5,100 multi-user tower sites.Assuming consummation of all pending trans-
actions, the Company operates more than 10,400 multi-user sites across the United States, Mexico
and Canada. Of the 10,400 multi-user sites, 9,000 are owned or leased towers and 1,400 are man-
aged or lease sub-lease sites.The Company’s network spans 48 states and the District of Columbia,
with tower clusters in 43 of the 50 largest U.S. metropolitan statistical areas.The Company’s sites
also include approximately 300 broadcast tower sites in the United States and Mexico. Based in
Boston, the Company has regional hub offices in Boston, Atlanta, Chicago, Houston, San Francisco
and Mexico City.The Company’s primary business is the leasing of antenna space to a diverse range
of wireless communications industries, including PCS cellular, ESMR, SMR, paging, fixed microwave
and fixed wireless.The Company is also a leading provider of network development services and
components for both wireless service providers and broadcasters.The Company offers full turnkey
network development solutions to its customers, consisting of radio frequency engineering, network
design, site acquisition and construction, zoning and other regulatory approvals, tower construction,
component part sales and antenna installation.The Company is also a leading Internet, voice, data
and video (IVDV) transmission company, providing services to both land and sea worldwide. As of
December 31, 1999, the Company owned and operated approximately 160 satellite antennas in
various locations across the United States, with major facilities in New York,Washington, D.C., Dallas
and San Francisco.

ATC Separation: On June 4, 1998, the merger of American Radio and a subsidiary of CBS
Corporation (CBS) was consummated. As a result of the merger, all of the outstanding shares of
the Company’s common stock owned by American Radio were distributed to American Radio
common stockholders, and the Company ceased to be a subsidiary of, or to be otherwise affiliated
with American Radio. Furthermore, from that day forward the Company began operating as an
independent publicly traded company.

As part of the ATC Separation, the Company was required to reimburse CBS for certain tax
liabilities incurred by American Radio as a result of the transaction. As of December 31, 1999 the
Company had made estimated tax payments to CBS of approximately $212.0 million. Upon com-
pletion of the final American Radio tax filings, a calculation of the total tax payments due to CBS

was performed and approved by both the Company and CBS. Such calculation reflected a refund
to the Company of amounts previously paid of approximately $7.0 million. Such amount (net of
$1.3 million of payments already received) along with the Company’s previously provided security
deposit of $9.8 million are recorded as Due from CBS in the accompanying December 31, 1999
consolidated balance sheet. The Company continues to be obligated to indemnify CBS and
American Radio for certain tax matters affecting American Radio prior to the ATC Separation. As
of December 31, 1999, no matters covered under this indemnification have been brought to the
Company’s attention.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation—The accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Investments in those entities where the Company
owns less than twenty percent of the voting stock of the individual entity are accounted for using
the cost method. Investments in those entities where the Company owns more than twenty per-
cent of the voting stock of the individual entity, but not in excess of fifty percent, are accounted for
using the equity method.The Company consolidates those entities in which it owns greater than
fifty percent of the entity’s voting stock.

Through June 4, 1998, the Company effectively operated as a stand-alone entity, with its own
corporate staff and headquarters, and received minimal assistance from personnel of American
Radio. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include any corpo-
rate general and administrative cost allocations from American Radio. The consolidated financial
statements may not reflect the results of operations or financial position of the Company had it
been an independent public company during the periods presented prior to June 4, 1998.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ
from those estimates, and such differences could be material to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue Recognition—Rental and management revenues are recognized when earned. Escalation
clauses and other incentives present in lease agreements with the Company’s customers are rec-
ognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Service revenues from site selection, construction and construction management activities are
derived under service contracts with customers that provide for billings on a time and materials or
fixed price basis. Revenues are recognized as services are performed with respect to the time and
materials contracts.Revenues are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method for fixed
price contracts and are measured by the percentage of contract costs incurred to date compared
to estimated total contract costs. Costs in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts represent
revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. Billings in excess of costs on uncompleted con-
tracts represent billings in excess of revenues recognized. Changes to total estimated contract costs
or losses, if any, are recognized in the period in which they are determined.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Internet, voice, data and video transmission revenues are recognized as such services are pro-
vided.Amounts billed or received prior to services being performed are deferred until such time as
the revenue is earned.

Development Expense—Development expense consists primarily of costs incurred in connection
with the integration of acquisitions and the development of new business initiatives. Such costs are
expensed as incurred.

Tower Separation Expense—Tower separation expense consists of one-time costs incurred in con-
nection with the separation of the Company from its former parent. Specifically, it includes legal,
accounting, financial advisory and consent solicitation fees. Such costs were expensed as incurred.

Corporate General and Administrative Expense—Corporate general and administrative expense consists
of corporate overhead costs not specifically allocable to any of the Company’s individual business segments.

Concentrations of Credit Risk—Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations
of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable and trade receivables. The
Company mitigates its risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents by maintaining such deposits
at high quality credit financial institutions and monitoring the credit ratings of those institutions.

The Company mitigates its concentrations of credit risk with respect to notes and trade receivables
by actively monitoring the creditworthiness of its borrowers and customers. Historically, the Company
has not incurred any significant credit related losses.The Company derives the largest portion of its
revenues from customers in the wireless telecommunications industry. In addition, the Company has
concentrations of operations in certain geographic areas (primarily California, Florida and Texas).
One customer accounted for approximately 17% of the Company’s 1999 consolidated revenues.
No single customer accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenues during 1998 and 1997.

Accounts receivable are reported net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $3,386,000 and
$1,230,000 as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Amounts charged against the
allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 approx-
imated $721,000, $206,000, and $46,000, respectively.

Discount on Convertible Notes—The Company amortizes the discount on its convertible notes using
the effective interest method over the term of the obligation. Such amortization is recorded as
interest expense in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Derivative Financial Instruments—The Company uses derivative financial instruments as a means of
managing interest-rate risk associated with its current debt or anticipated debt transactions that
have a high probability of execution.The Company’s interest rate protection agreements generally
consist of interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements.These instruments are matched with
either fixed or variable rate debt, and payments thereon are recorded on a settlement basis as an
adjustment to interest expense. Premiums paid to purchase interest rate cap agreements are amortized
as an adjustment of interest expense over the life of the contract. Derivative financial instruments
are not held for trading purposes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and
short-term investments with remaining maturities (when purchased) of three months or less.

Inventories—Inventories, which consist primarily of finished goods and raw material component
parts, are stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined on the first-in, first-out
(FIFO) basis.The components of inventories as of December 31, 1999 are as follows (in thousands):

Raw materials $ 859
Work in process 303
Finished goods 10,100

Total $ 11,262

Property and Equipment—Property and equipment are recorded at cost or at estimated fair value
(in the case of acquired properties). Cost for self-constructed towers includes direct materials and
labor, indirect costs directly associated with construction and capitalized interest. Approximately
$3,379,000, $1,403,000 and $458,000 of interest was capitalized for the years ended December 31,
1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the
assets’ estimated useful lives ranging from three to thirty-two years. Property and equipment
acquired through capitalized leases are amortized utilizing the straight-line method over the shorter
of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets—Goodwill and other intangible assets represent principally the
excess of purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets acquired, as well as the value of
existing site rental customer contracts, deferred financing costs, deferred acquisition costs and non-
competition agreements. Goodwill and site rental customer contracts are amortized over an estimated
aggregate useful life of fifteen years using the straight-line method. The consolidated financial
statements reflect the preliminary allocation of certain purchase prices, as the appraisals for some
acquisitions have not yet been finalized.The portion of intangible assets relating to deferred financing
costs and non-competition agreements is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the related
estimated useful lives, ranging from five to ten years. (See note 4).

Income Taxes—The consolidated financial statements reflect provisions for federal, state, local and
foreign income taxes on current income. However, the tax costs of repatriating foreign subsidiary
business earnings to the Company’s domestic subsidiaries has not been reflected in the tax provision
since the Company intends to permanently reinvest the profits of its foreign subsidiaries within
those entities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences and carryforwards are expected to be recovered or settled.The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date.

Through January 1998, the Company participated in a tax sharing agreement with ARS. The
Company and its subsidiaries now prepare and file income tax returns on a consolidated basis, separate
from ARS. (See note 9).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Loss Per Common Share—Basic and diluted income or loss per common share have been deter-
mined in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) No. 128,“Earnings Per
Share” whereby basic income or loss per common share is computed by dividing net income or
loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted per
share amounts are computed by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares for dilutive
potential common shares during the period, if any. In computing diluted per share amounts, the
Company uses the treasury stock method, whereby unexercised options are assumed to be exercised
at the beginning of the period or at issuance, if later.The assumed proceeds are then used to purchase
common shares at the average market price during the period. Shares outstanding upon the con-
summation of the ATC Separation are assumed to be outstanding for all of 1997 and prior to June
4, 1998. Shares issuable upon exercise of options and other dilutive securities have been excluded
from the computation of diluted loss per common share as the effect is anti-dilutive. Had these
options and other dilutive securities been included in the computation, shares for the diluted computation
would have increased by approximately 11.5 and 3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 1999
and 1998, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets—Recoverability of long-lived assets is determined periodically by
comparing the forecasted, undiscounted net cash flows of the operations to which the assets relate
to their carrying amounts, including associated intangible assets of such operations.

Stock-Based Compensation—Compensation related to equity grants or awards to employees is
measured using the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No.
25 “Accounting For Stock Issued To Employees.” In addition, the Company provides the required dis-
closures under FAS No. 123,“Accounting For Stock Based Compensation” as if the fair-value based
method (defined in FAS No. 123) had been applied. (See note 10).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments—The Company believes that the carrying value of all financial
instruments is a reasonable estimate of the fair value as of December 31, 1999 and 1998.

Retirement Plan—The Company has a 401(k) plan covering substantially all employees who meet
certain age and employment requirements. Under the plan, the Company matches 30% of partici-
pants’ contributions up to 5% of compensation. Prior to the ATC Separation, employees of the
Company participated in a similar plan sponsored by ARS.The Company contributed approximately
$461,000, $207,700 and $16,800 to the plans for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and
1997, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncement—In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended in May 1999 by FAS No. 137 “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities — Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement
No. 133 — An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.”This statement establishes accounting and
reporting standards for derivative instruments. It requires that an entity recognize all derivatives as
either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position, and measure those instruments at fair
value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative (that is, gains and losses) will
depend on the entity’s intended use of the derivative and its resulting designation (as defined in the

statement). FAS No. 133, as amended, will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2001. The
Company is currently in the process of evaluating the impact FAS No. 133 will have on the
Company and its consolidated financial statements.

Reclassifications—Certain reclassifications have been made to the 1998 and 1997 financial statements
to conform with the 1999 presentation.

2. COSTS IN EXCESS OF BILLINGS ON UNCOMPLICATED CONTRACTS AND

UNBILLED RECEIVABLES

The Company derives a portion of its Services revenue from customer contracts that provide for billing
only after certain milestones within the contract have been achieved. As the Company recognizes
revenue on these contracts using the percentage-of-completion methodology, such contracts give
rise to revenue which has been earned, but as of a certain point in time remains unbilled. Such
amounts (along with unbilled rental revenue) are included in costs in excess of billings on uncom-
pleted contracts and unbilled receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Within its Services segment the Company also enters into contracts that provide for progress
billings as the Company fulfills its obligation under certain contracts.These contracts may give rise
to billings that are in excess of amounts actually earned as of a certain point in time.The excess of
amounts billed over the amount earned on these contracts is reflected (along with customer rent
received in advance) in billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts and unearned revenue
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The following are the components of costs in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts, unbilled
receivables, billings in excess of costs on uncompleted contracts and unearned revenue as of
December 31, 1999 and 1998 (in thousands):

1999 1998
Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts $ 20,783
Estimated earnings 13,228
Unbilled receivables 3,664 $ 1,344
Less billings to date (41,827) (6,610)

$ (4,152) $ (5,266)

Included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets:
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings

on uncompleted contracts and unbilled receivables $   13,363 $ 1,344
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings

on uncompleted contracts and unearned revenue (17,515) (6,610)
$    (4,152) $ (5,266)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following as of December 31 (in thousands):

1999       1998
Land and improvements $ 61,007 $ 38,242
Buildings and improvements 156,005 59,447
Towers 672,039 289,334
Technical equipment 29,591 9,381
Transmitter equipment 75,488 29,290
Office equipment, furniture, fixtures and other equipment 43,535 14,863
Construction in progress 127,171 31,926

Total 1,164,836 472,483
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (72,490) (23,007)
Property and equipment, net $ 1,092,346 $ 449,476

4. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company’s intangible assets consist of the following as of December 31 (in thousands):

1999       1998
Goodwill and site rental customer contracts $ 1,491,569  $ 739,933
Deferred financing costs 24,269     8,891
Non-compete agreements 6,615     6,018
Deferred acquisition costs and other 5,027     2,513

Total 1,527,480   757,355
Less accumulated amortization (123,583)  (38,780)
Other intangible assets, net $ 1,403,897  $ 718,575 

5. NOTES RECEIVABLE AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTY

In December 1999, the Company signed definitive agreements to loan up to $120.0 million to TV Azteca
S.A. de C.V. (TV Azteca), the owner of a major national television broadcast network in Mexico.The
loan, of which $100.0 million was advanced in February 2000, earns net interest at approximately
11.6%, payable quarterly. An executive officer and director of the Company also became a direc-
tor of TV Azteca in December 1999. The Company also assumed marketing responsibility for
approximately 190 broadcasting towers owned by TV Azteca. Under the terms of the marketing
agreement, the Company will be entitled to receive 100% of the revenues generated by third party
leases and will be responsible for any incremental operating expenses associated with those leases
during the term of the loan.The initial term of the loan, twenty years, may be extended by TV Azteca
for an additional fifty years. The Company had no amounts receivable under the note as of
December 31, 1999.

In anticipation of the loan described above, the Company made an interim loan of $60.0 million to
TV Azteca in September 1999.The interim loan, which bore interest at approximately 11%, matured
at the closing of the loan described above and was partially collateralized by the stock of TV Azteca.
As of December 31, 1999 the amount due to the Company in connection with this interim loan was
$60.0 million and interest income aggregated $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 1999.

As of December 31, 1999, the Company also has several notes receivable outstanding totaling
approximately $58.8 million. Such notes were issued in connection with a number of acquisitions
entered into in 1999 and 1998. These notes bear interest at rates ranging from 5% to 16% and
mature in periods ranging from the earlier of two to three years or upon consummation of the
applicable transaction.

6. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Outstanding amounts under the Company’s long-term financing arrangements consisted of the fol-
lowing as of December 31 (in thousands):

1999      1998
Convertible notes $ 602,259
Credit facilities 90,000 $ 275,000
Notes and mortgage payable 43,785 5,854
Capital leases and other obligations 4,778 275

Total 740,822 281,129
Less current portion (4,736) (1,652)
Long-term debt $ 736,086 $ 279,477

The following is a description of the Company’s outstanding long-term debt as of December 31, 1999:

Convertible Notes—On October 4, 1999, the Company completed a private placement of $300.0
million 6.25% Convertible Notes (6.25% Notes), issued at 100% of their face amount and $425.5
million 2.25% Convertible Notes (2.25% Notes), issued at 70.52% of their face amount (collectively,
the Notes).The yield to maturity on the 2.25% Notes is 6.25%, giving effect to the accrued original
issue discount and accrued interest.The Notes mature on October 15, 2009. Interest on the Notes
is payable semiannually on April 15 and October 15 of each year, beginning April 15, 2000.

The 6.25% Notes and 2.25% Notes are convertible at any time, at the option of the holder, into
the Company’s Class A common stock at a conversion price of $24.40 per share and $24.00 per
share, respectively, subject to adjustment in certain events.The Company may redeem the Notes at
any time on or after October 22, 2002. The initial redemption price on the 6.25% Notes is
103.125% of the principal amount, subject to ratable declines immediately after October 15 of each
following year to 100% of the principal amount in 2005.The 2.25% Notes are redeemable incre-
mentally at increasing prices designed to reflect the accrued original issue discount.The holders have
the option of requiring the Company to repurchase all or a portion of the 6.25% Notes on October
22, 2006 at their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest, and all or a portion 
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of the 2.25% Notes on October 22, 2003 at $802.93, plus accrued and unpaid interest. The
Company may elect to pay the repurchase price on the Notes in cash or shares of Class A com-
mon stock. The Notes rank equally with one another and are junior to indebtedness outstanding
under the Company’s credit facilities.

Total net proceeds from the Notes were approximately $584.0 million, of which approximately
$368.0 million were used to pay off borrowings under the Company’s then existing credit facility.
The remaining portion of the proceeds has and will be used to finance acquisitions and construction.

Credit Facilities—In June 1998, the Company and the Borrower Subsidiaries entered into loan
agreements (the Credit Facilities) which increased the Company’s maximum borrowing capacity
from $400.0 million to $925.0 million.The Credit Facilities consist of a term loan to the Company
for $150.0 million, revolving credit facilities to the Borrower Subsidiaries totaling $650.0 million and
a term loan to the Borrower Subsidiaries of $125.0 million. In October 1999, following the issuance
of the Notes, the Company’s borrowing capacity under the Credit Facilities was reduced to $483.0
million.The reduction was a result of the repayment of the Company’s term loan and provisions in
the credit facilities, which required commitment reductions should the Company issue additional
debt securities. Interest rates under the Credit Facilities were determined, at the option of the
Company, at either the London Interbank Offering Rate (LIBOR) plus margin (as defined) or the
Base Rate plus applicable margin (as defined). For the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and
1997, the combined weighted average interest rate of the Company’s various credit agreements
was 7.94%, 7.97% and 7.40%, respectively.

The Company’s term loan was initially due in quarterly installments commencing June 30, 2001.
The Borrower Subsidiaries’ revolving credit facility and term loan, of which approximately $90.0 million
was outstanding as of December 31, 1999, was initially due in quarterly installments, commencing
June 30, 2001 in amounts varying from 2.5% to 11.25% of outstanding principal, with ultimate maturity
on June 30, 2006. However, all amounts outstanding were repaid in January 2000 in connection with
the amendment and restatement to the credit facility described below and in note 14. As of
December 31, 1999, the interest rate in effect for the outstanding principal balance was 9.25%.

Under the Credit Facilities, the Company was required to pay quarterly commitment fees depending
on the consolidated financial leverage on the aggregate unused portion of the aggregate commitment.
Commitment fees paid by the Company related to the various credit facility agreements aggregated
approximately $1,504,000, $1,172,000 and $416,000 for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998
and 1997, respectively. In addition, the Credit Facilities existing at December 31, 1999 required main-
tenance of various financial covenants and ratios, none of which the Company believed were restrictive
to its present or planned business activities. Amounts outstanding under the Credit Facilities were
cross-guaranteed and cross-collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company.

In January 2000, the Company amended and restated its credit facilities pursuant to which the
Company’s maximum borrowing capacity increased to $2.0 billion. (See note 14).

As a result of the reduction in borrowing capacity in October 1999, the Company recognized
an extraordinary loss on extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 1999 of approx-
imately $1.4 million, net of an income tax benefit of $0.9 million. The Company also incurred
extraordinary losses on extinguishment of debt of approximately $1.4 million and $0.7 million, net

of income tax benefits of $0.9 million and $0.4 million, in 1998 and 1997, respectively, as a result of
refinancings to previously existing credit facilities.

Notes Payable—In connection with a number of acquisitions consummated during 1999, 1998 and
1997, the Company issued or assumed several notes payable. Such notes approximated $43.8 million
as of December 31, 1999.These notes bear interest at rates ranging from 8.0% to 12.0% and mature
in periods ranging from less than one year to approximately six years.

Capital Leases and Other Obligations—The Company’s capital lease obligations bear interest at an average
rate of 7.5% and mature in periods ranging from less than one year to approximately five years.

Future minimum capital lease payments for the next five years are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending:
2000 $ 1,491
2001 1,417
2002 1,044
2003 925
2004 501
Total minimum lease payments 5,378
Less amounts representing interest (875)
Present value of capital lease obligations $ 4,503

Derivative Positions—Under the terms of the Credit Facilities, the Company was required, under certain
conditions, to enter into interest rate protection agreements.The Company’s exposure under these
agreements is limited to the impact of variable interest rate fluctuations and the periodic settlement
of amounts due under these agreements if the other parties fail to perform. As of December 31,
1999, the Company had interest rate cap agreements outstanding with total notional amounts of
$21.5 million (expiring in January 2000), $23.8 million (expiring in April 2000) and $21.6 million
(expiring in July 2000) with interest rates capped at 8.5%, 8.5% and 9.5%, respectively.

Aggregate principal payments of long-term debt, including capital leases, for the next five years and
thereafter are estimated to be (in thousands):

Year Ending:
2000 $ 4,736
2001 8,484
2002 13,141
2003 14,948
2004 19,122
Thereafter 680,391

Total $ 740,822
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7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Obligations—The Company leases certain land, office, tower and satellite space under oper-
ating leases that expire over various terms. Many of the leases also contain renewal options with
specified increases in lease payments upon exercise of the renewal option.

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases in effect at December 31,
1999 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending:
2000 $ 27,828
2001 24,956
2002 16,911
2003 11,921
2004 6,565
Thereafter 44,049

Total $ 132,230

Aggregate rent expense under operating leases for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and
1997 approximated $23,211,000, $10,818,000 and $2,110,000, respectively.

Customer Leases—The Company’s lease agreements with its customers vary depending upon the
industry user. Leases with television and radio broadcasters are typically long-term leases, while leas-
es to wireless communications providers typically incorporate shorter lease terms with multiple
renewal options. Leases of all lengths are generally renewed by the lessees due to the costs and dis-
ruption associated with reconfiguring a wireless network or broadcast location. Most leases have
escalator provisions (annual automatic increases based on specified estimated cost measures or on
increases in the consumer price index).The Company also subleases space on communications tow-
ers under the same terms and conditions, including cancellation rights, as those found in its own
lease contracts.

Future minimum rental receipts expected from customers under noncancelable operating lease
agreements in effect at December 31, 1999 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending:
2000 $ 92,432
2001 86,179
2002 74,255
2003 57,381
2004 38,611
Thereafter 161,524

Total $ 510,382

Rental revenues under the Company’s sub-leases approximated $2,896,000, $1,072,000 and
$978,000 for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Acquisition Commitments—See notes 11 and 14.

ATC Separation—See note 1.

Litigation—The Company periodically becomes involved in various claims and lawsuits that are inci-
dental to its business. In the opinion of management, after consultation with counsel, there are no
matters currently pending which would, in the event of adverse outcome, have a material impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial position, the results of operations or liquidity.

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

1999
Chase Manhattan Bank (Chase), was a lender with a 6.67% participation under the Company’s
Credit Facilities. Chase also has a 5.20% participation under the Credit Facilities for the Borrower
Subsidiaries. Chase is an affiliate of Chase Capital Partners (CCP), which indirectly controls Chase
Equity Associates LLC (CEA). A director of the Company (and formerly a director of American
Radio), is a general partner of CCP. CEA is a stockholder of the Company. At December 31, 1999,
the aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Credit Facilities was approximately $90.0 million.
Chase’s approximate share of interest and fees paid by the Company pursuant to its various credit
arrangements was $1.2 million, $0.8 million and $0.2 million in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

The Company purchases certain structural and broadcast tower steel products from Kline Iron
and Steel Co. (Kline).The Company owns 33 1/3% of the outstanding equity of Kline. During the
year ended December 31, 1999, the Company purchased approximately $7.4 million of such products
from Kline.

In 1999, an executive officer of the Company received demand loans aggregating $0.8 million.
At December 31, 1999, such interest-bearing loans remain outstanding. In addition, the Company
has a loan outstanding to another executive officer. Such loan was issued in 1998 and has an out-
standing balance at December 31, 1999 of approximately $0.3 million.

An exectutive officer and director of the Company became a director of TV Azteca in
December 1999. (See note 5).

1998
In June 1998,American Radio contributed the majority of its corporate fixed assets to the Company
(with an American Radio net book value of approximately $1.4 million). During the period that the
Company was a majority owned subsidiary of American Radio, the Company received revenues of
approximately $565,000 and $389,000 from American Radio for tower rentals at Company-owned sites
for the period ending June 4, 1998 (date of ATC Separation) and year ended December 31, 1997.
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In January 1998,American Radio contributed to the Company 19 communications sites used by
American Radio and various third parties (with an ARS aggregate net book value of approximately
$4.7 million), and American Radio and the Company entered into leases or subleases of space on
the transferred towers. In May 1998, two additional communications sites were transferred and leases
were entered into following acquisition by American Radio of the sites from third parties.These sites
were contributed to the Company at an aggregate American Radio net book value of approximately
$0.3 million.

In January 1998, the Company consummated the transactions contemplated by a stock purchase
agreement with certain related parties. (See note 10).

9. INCOME TAXES

The income tax (provision) benefit from continuing operations was comprised of the following for
the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

1999      1998     1997
Current:

Federal $ (116,322) $ 444
State (18,866)  175
Foreign

Deferred:
Federal $ 1,029     (8,407) (125)
State 148      (841)  (21)
Foreign 58

Less:
Deferred tax assets related to corporate tax

restructuring 150,150
Benefit from disposition of stock options

recorded to additional paid-in capital (1,449) (1,223)
Income tax (provision) benefit $ (214) $ 4,491 $ 473

A reconciliation between the U.S. statutory rate from continuing operations and the effective rate
was as follows for the years ended December 31:

1999      1998     1997
Statutory tax rate 35 % 35 % 34 %
State taxes, net of federal benefit 5 4 6
Non-deductible tower separation expenses (11)
Nondeductible goodwill and intangible amortization (42) (16) (17)
Other 2 (1)
Effective tax rate — % 11 % 23 %

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities were composed of the
following as of December 31 (in thousands):

1999      1998
Current assets:

Allowances and accruals made for financial reporting 
purposes which are currently nondeductible $ 1,718 $ 495

Long-term items:
Assets:

Tax basis step-up from corporate tax 
restructuring and tax planning strategies $ 133,380  $ 142,642

Allowances and accruals made for financial reporting 
purposes which are currently non-deductible 32

Charitable contribution carry-forwards 23
Foreign tax credit carry-forwards 97
Net operating loss carry-forwards 63,070     25,477

Liabilities:
Property and equipment and intangible assets,

principally due to amortization methods and
carry-over basis differences (82,350) (58,701)

Net long-term deferred tax assets $ 114,252 $ 109,418

At December 31, 1999, the Company has net operating loss carry-forwards available to reduce
future taxable income of $157.7 million for federal and state purposes.These loss carry-forwards
expire through 2013. In the opinion of management, deferred tax assets are more likely than not
recoverable, therefore a valuation allowance has not been provided in the accompanying consoli-
dated financial statements.

10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The following is a summary of the Company’s principal equity offerings during the years ended
December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997. See note 11 of the consolidated financial statements for
issuances of common stock in connection with the Company’s acquisitions consummated during
the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997.

Public Offering—In February 1999, the Company completed a public offering of 25,700,00 shares of
Class A common stock, $.01 par value per share (including 1,700,00 shares sold by the Company
pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ over-allotment option) at $25.00 per share.
Certain selling stockholders sold an additional 1,300,000 shares in the offering.The Company’s net
proceeds of the offering (after deduction of the underwriting discount and offering expenses) were
approximately $618.0 million.The Company used such proceeds, together with borrowings under
its existing credit facilities, to fund acquisitions and construction activities.
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Private Placement—In February 1999, the Company consummated the sale of 500,000 shares of
Class A common stock to Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation at $26.31 per share. In connec-
tion with such sale, Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation was granted certain registration rights.
The Company’s net proceeds of the offering were approximately $13.2 million.The Company used
such proceeds, together with borrowings under its existing credit facilities, to fund acquisitions and
construction activities.

Initial Public Offering—On July 8, 1998, the Company completed a public offering of 27,861,987
shares of Class A common stock, $.01 par value per share, (including 2,361,987 shares sold by the
Company pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ over-allotment option) at $23.50 per
share. Certain selling stockholders sold an additional 3,874,911 shares in the offering. The
Company’s net proceeds of the offering (after deduction of the underwriting discount and esti-
mated offering expenses) were approximately $625.0 million. On July 9, 1998, the Company used
approximately $306.1 million of the net proceeds from the offering to redeem all of the outstand-
ing shares of the Interim Preferred Stock described below.The balance was used, together with bor-
rowings under the Credit Facilities, to fund acquisitions and construction activities.

Redeemable Common Stock—In June 1998, the Company merged with a company owning a broad-
casting tower in the Boston, Massachusetts area and issued 720,000 shares of Class A common
stock valued at approximately $18.0 million. Under a put agreement that was executed in connec-
tion with the merger, the sellers had the right to require the Company to purchase, at any time prior
to June 5, 1999, any or all shares of Class A common stock received pursuant to consummation of
the merger for a purchase price equal to the then current market price. On June 5, 1999, the sell-
ers’ right to require the Company to purchase shares of common stock expired. Accordingly, all
unsold shares as of that date (336,250) were reclassified from Redeemable Class A common stock
to common stock and additional paid in capital.

Preferred Stock Financing—On June 4, 1998, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement
(the Interim Financing Agreement) with respect to a preferred stock financing, which provided for
the issuance and sale by the Company of up to $400.0 million of Series A Redeemable Pay-In-Kind
Preferred Stock (the Interim Preferred Stock) to finance the Company’s obligation to CBS with
respect to tax reimbursement. The Company issued $300.0 million of Interim Preferred Stock,
which accrued dividends at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR then in effect (approximately
5.69%) plus an agreed upon adjustable spread (5.0% for the period in which the obligation was out-
standing). Due to the short term nature of the issue, accrued dividends were recorded as interest
expense in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such interest expense approximat-
ed $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1998.The Interim Preferred Stock was redeemed
on July 9, 1998 at a redemption price equal to $1,010 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends
for an aggregate redemption value of $306.1 million.The Company incurred an extraordinary loss
of approximately $7.5 million, net of a tax benefit of $5.0 million, during the third quarter of 1998,
representing the write-off of certain commitment, deferred financing and redemption fees.

Stock Purchase Agreement—On January 22, 1998, the Company consummated the transactions con-
templated by the stock purchase agreement (the ATC Stock Purchase Agreement), dated as of
January 8, 1998, with Steven B. Dodge, Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
of American Radio and the Company, and certain other officers and directors of American Radio
(or their affiliates or family members or family trusts), pursuant to which those persons purchased
8.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock at a purchase price of $10.00 per share for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $80.0 million, including 4.0 million shares by Mr. Dodge
for $40.0 million. Payment of the purchase price was in the form of cash aggregating approximate-
ly $30.6 million and in the form of notes aggregating approximately $49.4 million which were repaid
upon the consummation of the ATC Separation.

Recapitalization—In November 1997, the Company effected a recapitalization, pursuant to which
each share of the Company’s existing common stock was cancelled and the Company was recapi-
talized with 29,667,883 shares of Class A common stock, 4,670,626 shares of Class B common stock
and 1,295,518 shares of Class C common stock.

During the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, holders of Class B common stock and
Class C common stock exchanged 1,192,354 and 469,576 of their shares respectively, for shares of
the Company’s Class A common stock.

Other Changes to Stockholders’ Equity—See note 11 of the consolidated financial statements for
issuances of common stock in connection with the Company’s acquisitions consummated during
the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997.

Voting Rights—The Class A and B common stock entitle the holders to one and ten votes, respec-
tively, per share.The Class C common stock is non-voting.

Stock Option Plans—Effective November 5, 1997, the Company instituted the 1997 Stock Option
Plan, as amended and restated on April 27, 1998 (the Plan), which is administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.

The option pool under the Plan consists of an aggregate of 15,000,000 shares of common stock
that may consist of shares of Class A common stock, shares of Class B common stock or some com-
bination thereof. The Plan was amended in June 1998 to provide that all future grants of options
under the Plan must be to purchase shares of Class A common stock. In addition to the 15,000,000
shares authorized under the Plan, options to purchase an aggregate of 2,894,358 shares of Class A
common stock and Class B common stock were outstanding as of December 31, 1999 outside of the
Plan.These options are the result of the exchange of certain American Radio options that occurred
pursuant to the ATC Separation and the assumption of certain options that occurred pursuant to the
mergers of OmniAmerica, Inc. (Omni) and American Tower Corporation (Old ATC) as described in
note 11. Each unexercised option to purchase shares of American Radio, Omni and Old ATC common
stock held by persons who became directors or employees of the Company were exchanged or
converted into the Company’s options. All options were exchanged or converted in a manner that
preserved the spread in such options between the option exercise price and the fair market value
of the common stock and the ratio of the spread to the exercise price prior to such conversion.
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Exercise prices in the case of incentive stock options are not less than the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Exercise prices in the case of non-qualified stock options are set
at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors. Options vest ratably over various periods, generally five years, commencing one year from the date of grant.There have been no option grants at
exercise prices less than fair value.

The following table summarizes the Company’s option activity for the periods presented:

Weighted Average
Weighted Average Options    Remaining

Options         Exercise Price    Exercisable Life (Years)

Outstanding as of January 1, 1997 550,00 $      5.00    160,000      8.71

Granted 172,000 7.50-8.00

Cancellations (40,000) 5.00 

Outstanding as of December 31, 1997 682,000(a) 5.68 160,000      8.89

Options converted from ATI to ATC Plan 931,332(a) 4.16    252,640      

Options transferred from American Radio. 1,862,806    6.21    723,660      

Options transferred in connection with 
ATC Merger (See note 11) 1,252,364    2.29    537,339      8.00

Subtotal 4,046,502    4.53  1,513,639      7.44

Granted 8,371,700    16.16

Exercised (1,103,213)   2.48

Cancellations (226,894)   8.80

Outstanding as of December 31, 1998 11,088,095    13.43  1,513,639      8.85

Granted 5,391,450   22.72

Options transferred in connection 
with the OmniAmerica merger (See note 11) 971,850    13.83    581,455      

Exercised (314,305)   13.43

Cancellations (419,848)   20.72

Outstanding as of December 31, 1999 16,717,242    $     16.23  4,132,562      8.41
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The following table sets forth information regarding options outstanding at December 31, 1999:

Outstanding Number Options   Range of Exercise     Weighted Average      Weighted Average 
of Options    Exercisable  Price Per Share  Exercise Price Per Share     Remaining Life (Years)

1,903,065    1,573,170    $ 2.05  — $ 7.64           $  3.62                6.20

921,514      410,766    8.04  — 9.09           8.77                6.92

2,866,003      561,360    10.00  — 10.00           10.00                8.01

1,963,560      782,460    10.91  — 15.91           13.28                8.12

1,122,700       80,400    15.94  — 21.00           18.64                9.37

2,239,200      447,846    21.13  — 21.13            21.13                8.47

2,952,950      276,060    21.19  — 23.75            22.79                9.12

2,403,150                 23.81  — 23.81            23.81                9.86

344,300          500    24.31  — 29.63           25.78                9.70

800                 31.94  — 31.94           31.94                9.97

16,717,242    4,132,562    $ 2.05  — $ 31.94           $ 16.23                8.41
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Pro Forma Disclosure—As described in note 1, the Company uses the intrinsic value method to
measure compensation expense associated with grants of stock options or awards to employees.
Accordingly, there is no compensation cost related to option grants reflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. Had the Company used the fair value method to measure compen-
sation for grants under all plans made in 1999, 1998 and 1997, the reported net loss and basic and
diluted loss per common share would have been as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

1999      1998     1997
Net loss $ (87,221) $ (62,439) $ (2,492)
Basic and diluted earnings per share $  (0.58) $  (0.78) $ (0.05)

The “fair value” of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black/Scholes option
pricing model. Key assumptions used to apply this pricing model are as follows:

1999     1998     1997
Approximate risk-free interest rate 5.7 % 5.5 % 6.3 %
Expected life of option grants 5 years  5 years  5 years
Expected volatility of underlying stock 72.0 % 177.5 %     N/A
Expected dividends N/A      N/A      N/A

ATC Teleports Stock Option Plan—During 1999, the ATC Teleport’s, Inc.’s Board of Directors approved
the formation of the ATC Teleports Stock Option Plan (ATC Teleports Plan) which provides for the
issuance of options to officers, employees, directors and consultants of the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiary ATC Teleports, Inc.The ATC Teleports Plan limits the number of shares of common
stock which may be granted to an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares. As of December 31, 1999, there were
no options outstanding under the ATC Teleports Plan. Options granted under the ATC Teleports
Plan will be at no less than fair value, as determined by an independent appraisal of ATC Teleports, Inc.,
and will generally vest over a five year period.The option term under the ATC Teleports Plan will
generally be 10 years from the date of grant.

11.ACQUISITIONS

General—The acquisitions consummated during 1999, 1998 and 1997 have been accounted for by
the purchase method of accounting. The purchase prices have been allocated to the net assets
acquired, principally tangible and intangible assets, and the liabilities assumed based on their esti-
mated fair values at the date of acquisition. The excess of purchase price over the estimated fair
value of the net assets acquired has been recorded as goodwill and other intangible assets. For cer-
tain acquisitions the financial statements reflect the preliminary allocation of purchase prices as the
appraisals of the assets acquired have not been finalized.The Company does not expect any changes
in depreciation and amortization as a result of such appraisals to be material to the consolidated
results of operations.

1999 Acquisitions—During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company consummated more
than 60 transactions involving the acquisition of various communications sites, service providers and
teleports for an estimated purchase price of $1.2 billion.This purchase price includes the issuance
of approximately 20.7 million shares of Class A common stock valued (at the time of the relevant
agreement) at $430.8 million.The principal transactions were as follows:

OmniAmerica merger—In February 1999, the Company consummated the Agreement and Plan of
Merger (the Omni Merger) with Omni. Omni owned or co-owned 223 towers in 24 states. Omni
also offered nationwide turnkey tower construction and installation services and manufactured
wireless infrastructure components.Total merger consideration was $462.0 million, consisting of the
issuance of 16.8 million shares of Class A common stock and the assumption of
$96.6 million of debt.The Company also assumed certain Omni employee stock options that were
converted into options to purchase approximately 1.0 million shares of the Company’s Class A
common stock.

Telecom merger—In February 1999, the Company consummated the Agreement and Plan of Merger
with Telecom Towers, LLC (Telecom).Telecom owned or co-owned approximately 271 towers and
managed 121 revenue-generating sites in 27 states.The aggregate merger consideration was $194.6
million, consisting of the payment of $63.1 million in cash, the issuance of 3.9 million shares of Class
A common stock and the assumption of $48.4 million in debt.

Triton PCS acquisition—In September 1999, the Company acquired 187 wireless communications
towers from Triton PCS for $70.7 million in cash. In addition, the Company will develop a minimum
of 100 build-to-suit towers for Triton PCS and provide turnkey services to Triton PCS for co-loca-
tion sites through 2001.

ICG transaction—In December 1999, the Company acquired all of the stock of ICG Satellite Services
and its subsidiary, Maritime Telecommunications Network, Inc., for $100.0 million in cash.The acqui-
sition involved a major around-the-clock teleport facility in New Jersey and a global maritime
telecommunications network headquartered in Miami, Florida. The acquired company provides
Internet, voice, data and compressed video satellite services to major cruise lines, the U.S. military,
Internet-related companies and international telecommunications customers.

1998 Acquisitions—During the year ended December 31, 1998, the Company acquired various
communications sites and a major site acquisition business for an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $853.8 million, including the issuance of approximately 36.3 million shares of Class A
common stock valued at approximately $382.6 million.The principal transactions were as follows:

Gearon Merger—In January 1998, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Gearon &
Co. Inc. (Gearon), for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $80.0 million. Gearon was
engaged in site acquisition, development and construction and facility management of wireless net-
work communication facilities.The purchase price consisted of approximately $32.0 million in cash,
assumed liabilities and the issuance of approximately 5.3 million shares of Class A common stock .
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OPM Merger—In January 1998, the Company acquired all the outstanding stock of OPM-USA-INC.
(OPM), a company that owned and developed communications towers, for approximately $70.0
million.The final price included a total of more than 150 towers and a right of first refusal granted
to the Company with respect to any towers that the former owner of OPM develops.The final payment
due to OPM of approximately $21.9 million was recorded as accrued acquisition purchase
price in the accompanying 1998 consolidated financial statements.

ATC Merger—On June 8, 1998, the Company consummated the American Tower Corporation
Merger (ATC Merger) pursuant to which that entity was merged into the Company.The total pur-
chase price was approximately $425.8 million. At the time of closing, the acquired company owned
approximately 775 communications towers and managed approximately 125 communications towers.
In conjunction with the ATC Merger, the Company issued 28.8 million shares of Class A common
stock valued at approximately $287.8 million (excluding 1,252,364 shares of common stock
reserved for options held by former employees of the acquired company valued at approximately
$9.7 million) and assumed approximately $4.5 million of redeemable preferred stock (which was
paid at closing) and $122.7 million of debt (of which approximately $118.3 million, including inter-
est and associated fees, was paid at closing). Upon consummation of the ATC Merger, the Company
changed its name from American Tower Systems Corporation to American Tower Corporation.

Grid/Wauka/Other Transactions—In October 1998, the Company acquired approximately 300 tow-
ers and certain tower related assets in six transactions for an aggregate purchase price of approxi-
mately $100.2 million. These transactions included the acquisition of all the outstanding stock of
Wauka Communications, Inc. and the assets of Grid Site Services, Inc. The consideration in these
related transactions included the issuance of 1,430,881 shares of Class A common stock, subject to
certain escrow adjustments.

1997 Acquisitions—During the year ended December 31, 1997, the Company acquired various
communications sites, the assets of several affiliated site acquisition businesses and two tower site
management businesses for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $180.4 million.The prin-
cipal transactions were as follows:

In October 1997, the Company acquired two affiliated entities operating approximately 110
tower sites and a tower site management business located principally in northern California for
approximately $45.0 million.

In October 1997, the Company acquired 128 tower sites and certain video, voice, data and
Internet transport operations for approximately $70.25 million.

In July 1997, the Company acquired the assets of three affiliated entities which owned and operated
approximately fifty towers and a tower site management business for an aggregate purchase
price of approximately $33.5 million.

Unaudited Pro Forma Operating Results—The operating results of these acquisitions have been
included in the Company’s consolidated results of operations from the date of acquisition.The fol-
lowing unaudited pro forma summary presents the consolidated results of operations as if the
acquisitions had occurred as of January 1, 1998 after giving effect to certain adjustments, including

depreciation and amortization of assets and interest expense on debt incurred to fund the acqui-
sitions.These unaudited pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and
do not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisitions been made as
of January 1 of each of the periods presented or results which may occur in the future.

(In thousands, except per share data-unaudited) 1999        1998

Operating revenues $ 346,760 $ 307,740
Loss before extraordinary losses (69,248) (98,769)
Net loss (70,620) (107,661)
Basic and diluted loss per common share (0.46) (0.94)

12. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Supplemental cash flow information and noncash investing and financing activities are as follows 
(in thousands):

1999     1998    1997

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest 

(including amounts capitalized) $ 22,160 $ 23,011 $ 2,398
Cash paid during the period for income taxes

(including amounts paid to CBS) 2,242 212,196 125
Noncash investing and financing activities:

Property, equipment and other assets transferred
from American Radio 6,489 51

Property and equipment transferred to 
American Radio (724)

Issuance of common stock and assumption of 
options for acquisitions 448,036  392,226

Purchase of treasury stock (1,528)
Increase in deferred tax assets from corporate 

tax restructuring 150,150
(Decrease) increase in due to CBS Corporation 

from estimated remaining tax liabilities (12,003)   5,021
Adjustment to equity for CBS tax liability 61,715
Accrual for final payment for OPM merger 21,914
Tax benefit from disposition of stock options

recorded to additional paid in capital 1,449    1,223
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13. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company operates in three business segments: Rental and Management (RM), Services, and
Internet, voice, data and video transmission services (IVDV).The RM segment provides for the leasing
and subleasing of antennae sites on multi-tenant towers for a diverse range of wireless communication
industries, including personal communication services, paging, cellular, enhanced specialized mobile
radio, specialized mobile radio and fixed microwave, as well as radio and television broadcasters.The
Services segment offers a broad range of network development services, including radio frequency
engineering, network design, site acquisition and construction, zoning and other regulatory
approvals, tower construction, component part sales and antennae installation.The IVDV segment
offers Internet, voice, data and video transmission services both on land and sea worldwide.

The accounting policies applied in compiling segment information below are similar to those
described in note 1. In evaluating financial performance, management focuses on Operating Profit
(Loss), excluding depreciation and amortization, tower separation, development and corporate gen-
eral and administrative expenses.This measure of Operating Profit (Loss) is also before interest and
other income, interest expense, minority interest in net earnings of subsidiaries, income taxes and
extraordinary items.

The Company’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different services.
They are managed separately because each segment requires different resources, skill sets and marketing
strategies. Summarized financial information concerning the Company’s reportable segments as of
and for the years ended December 1999, 1998 and 1997 is shown in the following table.The “Other”
column below represents amounts excluded from specific segments, such as income taxes, extraordinary
losses, corporate general and administrative expenses, tower separation expense, development
expense, depreciation and amortization and interest. In addition, the Other column also includes
corporate assets such as cash and cash equivalents, tangible and intangible assets, and income tax
accounts which have not been allocated to specific segments (in thousands).

RM Services  IVDV    Other      Total

1999
Revenues $ 135,303 $ 90,416 $ 32,362 $ 258,081
Operating profit (loss) 72,862  21,098    8,264 $ (152,951) (50,727)
Assets 1,764,385 505,018 229,260   520,203   3,018,866
Capital expenditures 236,070 39,749 15,835 2,588 294,242
Depreciation and amortization 92,264 25,991 7,264 7,020 132,539

1998
Revenues $ 60,505 $ 23,315 $ 19,724 $ 103,544
Operating profit (loss) 31,050 3,836 6,907 $ (88,635) (46,842)
Assets 979,349 91,444 64,359 367,191 1,502,343
Capital expenditures 118,926 61 3,405 4,063 126,455
Depreciation and amortization 37,698 7,038 4,887 2,441 52,064

1997
Revenues $ 13,302 $ 2,122 $ 2,084 $ 17,508
Operating profit (loss) 7,222 762 811 $ (11,065) (2,270)
Assets 223,202 12,032 13,549 6,574 255,357
Capital expenditures 20,145 19 69 381 20,614
Depreciation and amortization 4,583   1,073 556 114 6,326
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Summarized geographical information of the Company’s operating revenues and long-lived assets
as of and for the year ended December 31, 1999 are as follows:

Operating Revenues:
United States $ 258,081
Mexico

Total operating revenues $ 258,081

Long-Lived Assets:
United States $ 2,489,870
Mexico 6,373

Total long-lived assets $ 2,496,243

The Company had no international operations for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997.

14.OTHER TRANSACTIONS

The following is a description of significant transactions consummated by the Company subsequent
to December 31, 1999:

CONSUMMATED TRANSACTIONS:
AirTouch transaction—In August 1999, the Company agreed to lease on a long-term basis up to
2,100 towers from AirTouch Communications, Inc. (AirTouch).The Company’s cumulative lease pay-
ments, based on 2,100 towers, aggregate $800.0 million in cash payable in part upon each closing,
and a five-year warrant to purchase 3.0 million shares of Class A common stock at $22.00 per share.
At the first three closings in January and February 2000, the Company leased 1,180 towers, paid
AirTouch $449.5 million in cash and issued a warrant for 3.0 million shares of Class A common
stock. The remaining closings are expected to occur in the first half of 2000. In addition, the
Company has entered into a three-year build-to-suit agreement that is expected to provide 400-
500 new communications towers.

AT&T transaction—In September 1999, the Company agreed to purchase up to 1,942 towers from
AT&T.These towers are located throughout the United States and were constructed by AT&T for
its microwave operations.The purchase price is $260.0 million in cash, subject to adjustment if all
towers are not purchased. The Company also entered into a build-to-suit agreement with AT&T
Wireless Services.This agreement requires AT&T Wireless Services to present 1,200 sites nationwide
from which the Company will select and be required to build 1,000 towers. At the first two closings
in January and February 2000, the Company acquired 863 towers and paid AT&T $177.2 million.
The remaining closings are expected to occur during the first half of 2000.

UNIsite merger—In January 2000, the Company consummated its merger with UNIsite, Inc.
(UNIsite).The purchase price was approximately $196.4 million, which includes a payment of $147.7
million in cash and the assumption of $48.7 million of debt. At closing, UNIsite had more than 600
towers then completed or under construction. In February 2000, the Company repaid the debt
assumed in connection with the UNIsite transaction. Such repayment was at a premium of the out-
standing principal balance. Accordingly, the Company will recognize an extraordinary loss from
extinguishment of debt in the first quarter of 2000.

Credit Facilities—In January 2000, the Company completed its amended and restated credit facilities
(the New Credit Facilities) with its senior lenders.The New Credit Facilities increased the borrowing
capacity of the Company and its Subsidiaries (Borrowers) to $2.0 billion, subject to certain borrowing
base restrictions, such as operating cash flow and construction cost levels.The New Credit Facilities
provide for a $650.0 million revolving credit facility maturing on June 30, 2007, an $850.0 million
multi-draw term loan maturing on June 30, 2007 and a $500.0 million term loan maturing on
December 31, 2007. Subject to lender approval, the Borrowers may request the New Credit
Facilities to be increased up to an additional $500.0 million.

The New Credit Facilities are scheduled to amortize quarterly commencing on March 31, 2003
based on defined percentages of outstanding commitment and principal balances. Interest rates for
the revolving credit facility and the multi-draw term loan are determined, at the option of the
Borrowers, at either 1.5% to 2.75% above the defined LIBOR Rate or 0.5% to 1.75% above the
defined Base Rate. Interest rates for the term loan are determined at either 3.0% to 3.25% LIBOR
or 2.0% to 2.25% above the defined Base Rate.The Borrowers are required to pay quarterly com-
mitment fees equal to 0.5% to 1.0% per annum, depending on the level of facility usage. In addition,
the New Credit Facilities require maintenance of various financial covenants and ratios and are
cross-guaranteed and cross-collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company. In con-
nection with the repayment of existing borrowings with proceeds from the New Credit Facilities,
the Company recognized an extraordinary loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $3.0
million, net of a tax benefit of $2.0 million, in January 2000.

February 2000 Convertible Note Issue—In February 2000, the Company completed a private notes
placement of $450.0 million 5% Convertible Notes (5% Notes), issued at 100% of their face amount.
The 5% Notes mature on February 15, 2010. Interest on the 5% Notes is payable semiannually on
February 15 and August 15, commencing August 15, 2000.The indenture governing the 5% Notes
does not contain any restrictions on the payment of dividends, the incurrence of debt or the repurchase
of the Company’s equity securities or any financial covenants.
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The 5% Notes are convertible at any time into shares of the Company’s Class A common
stock at a conversion price of $51.50 per share. The Company cannot redeem the 5% Notes
prior to February 20, 2003 and the Company may be required to repurchase all or any of the
5% Notes on February 20, 2007 at their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid
interest. The Company may, at its option, elect to pay the repurchase price in cash or shares of
Class A common stock or any combination thereof.Total net proceeds from the 5% Notes were
approximately $438.7 million. A portion of the proceeds was used to pay off amounts outstanding
under the Company’s New Credit Facilities.The remaining proceeds will be used to finance acquisitions
and construction.

Canadian Joint Venture—In March 2000, the Company entered into a joint venture with Telemedia
Corporation, a privately held Canadian telecommunications company, to form Canadian Tower, L.P.
(Canadian Tower). Under the terms of the agreement, Canadian Tower, which will be both Canadian
controlled and operated, will develop and acquire both wireless and broadcast towers throughout
Canada. The joint venture’s initial assets include more than 20 broadcast towers contributed by
Telemedia. These broadcast towers are located in major metropolitan areas, including Toronto,
Montreal, Quebec City, Edmonton and Hamilton.The Company committed to advance $18.0 mil-
lion (Canadian), for which we will initially own 45% of the joint venture.

PENDING TRANSACTIONS:
USEI transaction—In December 1999, the Company agreed to merge with U.S. Electrodynamics
(USEI).The purchase price of $60.0 million is payable through the issuance of shares of Class A common
stock and cash.The purchase price will be subject to adjustment based on the net working capital
and the long-term debt of USEI at closing.The USEI transaction is expected to close in the
second quarter of 2000, subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions.

The Company is also pursuing the acquisitions of other properties and businesses in new and
existing locations, although there are no definitive material agreements with respect thereto.

15. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Selected quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 is as follows:

Three Months Ended
(in thousands, except per share data) March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

1999
Operating revenues $ 42,408 $ 59,153 $ 67,539 $ 88,981
Gross profit (1) (9,271) (10,136) (10,332) (11,319)
Loss before extraordinary losses (9,500) (9,883) (13,091) (16,881)
Net loss (9,500) (9,883) (13,091) (18,253)
Basic and diluted per common share: (2)

Loss before extraordinary losses ($0.07) ($0.06) ($0.08) ($0.11)
Net loss ($0.07) ($0.06) ($0.08) ($0.12)

1998
Operating revenues $ 17,925 $ 23,082 $ 30,478 $ 32,059
Gross profit (1) 87 (2,293) (5,018) (8,146)
Loss before extraordinary losses (1,527) (18,417) (5,958) (12,048)
Net loss (1,527) (19,799) (13,468) (12,048)
Basic and diluted per common share: (2)

Loss before extraordinary losses ($0.03) ($0.33) ($0.06) ($0.11)
Net loss ($0.03) ($0.35) ($0.13) ($0.11)

(1)  Represents operating revenues less operating expenses excluding tower separation expense.
(2)  Prior to June 4, 1998 (the ATC Separation), basic and diluted loss per common share infor-

mation is computed using the 48,732,000 shares that were outstanding upon consummation
of the ATC Separation.
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WEST

Tower & Site Services
501 Canal Boulevard, Suite E
Point Richmond, CA 94801
510-236-3700

Specialty Constructors
3811 West Lower Buckeye Road
Phoenix, AZ 85009
602-447-0101

MTS Wireless Components
4740 Ridge Drive NE
Salem, OR 97303
503-393-3889

SOUTHWEST

Tower & Site Services
3411 Richmond Avenue, Suite 400
Houston,TX 77046
713-693-0000

Specialty Constructors
2445 Alamo Street SE
Albuquerque, NM 87106
505-242-9800

MTS Wireless Components
11312 South Pipeline Road
Ft.Worth,TX 76040
817-540-9450

MIDWEST

Tower & Site Services
1101 Perimeter Drive, Suite 225
Schaumburg, IL 60173
847-240-1508

Specialty Constructors
1715 Tomich Court
Crest Hill, IL 60435
815-730-8499

SOUTHEAST

Tower & Site Services
3200 Cobb Galleria Parkway, Suite 205
Atlanta, GA 30339
770-953-9400

Specialty Constructors
306 Woodland Drive
Laplace, LA 70068
504-651-9630

MTS Wireless Components
508 Commerce Way
Jupiter, FL 33458
561-743-5153

Galaxy Engineering Services
13000 Deerfield Parkway, Suite 107
Alpharetta, GA 30004
770-751-8330

NORTHEAST

Tower & Site Services
321 Columbus Avenue, 5th Floor
Boston, MA 02116
617-585-7600

Specialty Constructors
700 Kennedy Boulevard
Somerdale, NJ 08083
856-784-0011

MTS Wireless Components
562 Captain Neville Drive
Waterbury, CT 06705
203-759-1234

Broadcast Towers
3 Allied Drive, Suite 210
Dedham, MA 02026
781-461-6780

ATC Teleports – Corporate
3040 Williams Drive, Suite 600
Alexandria,VA 22312
703-206-9000

For information about our various services,
please call us at 1-877-ATC-SITE or visit our
Web site at www.americantower.com.

Regional Offices
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✸

✸
✸
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■ WEST ■ SOUTHWEST ■ MIDWEST ■ SOUTHEAST ■ NORTHEAST

■ Total Sites* 10,400
Owned and Operated 9,000
Managed/Sub-leased 1,400

*Includes 600 sites in Mexico, not shown.

✸ Total Teleport Antennas 160
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97 98 99

STRONG HISTORICAL REVENUE GROWTH

95 96 97 98 99

3

NUMBER OF TOWERS OWNED & OPERATED

299

708

2,300

10,400*

*Includes approx. 5,300 towers from acquisitions
closed Jan. 1 through March 15, 2000, including all
AT&T and AirTouch towers acquired or to be acquired.

97 98 99

STRONG HISTORICAL EBITDA GROWTH
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Directors & Executive Officers

17.5

103.5

258.1

7.3

36.7

91.5

D IRECTORS

Steven B. Dodge
Chairman, President and 

Chief Executive Officer

Thomas H. Stoner
Chairman, Executive Committee

Arnold L. Chavkin
General Partner
Chase Capital Partners

Alan L. Box
Vice Chairman,Teleports

J. Michael Gearon, Jr.
Executive Vice President

Fred R. Lummis
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Advantage Outdoor Company

Randall T. Mays
Executive Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer
Clear Channel Communications

Maggie Wilderotter
President and Chief Executive Officer
Wink Communications

Jack D. Furst
Partner
Hicks, Muse,Tate & Furst Incorporated

Dean H. Eisner
Vice President, Business Development 

and Planning
Cox Enterprises, Inc.

EXECUT IVE OFF ICERS

Steven B. Dodge
Chairman, President and 

Chief Executive Officer

Joseph L.Winn
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

Douglas C.Wiest
Chief Operating Officer

James S. Eisenstein
Chief Development Officer

J. Michael Gearon, Jr.
Executive Vice President

Steven J. Moskowitz
Executive Vice President, Sales and
Marketing

David W. Garrison
Chairman,Teleports

FORM 10-K
A copy of the Company’s Form 10-K as
filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission is available upon request from:

Anne Alter
Director of Investor Relations
American Tower Corporation
116 Huntington Avenue
Boston, MA 02116
617.375.7500

ANNUAL MEET ING
The annual meeting of shareholders will
be held on May 18, 2000 at American
Tower Corporation, 116 Huntington
Avenue—11th Floor, Boston, MA com-
mencing at 10 a.m.

CORPORATE COUNSEL
Sullivan & Worcester LLP
Boston, MA

INDEPENDENT AUD ITORS
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Boston, MA

REGISTRAR AND STOCK TRANSFER
AGENT
Harris Trust & Savings Bank
Chicago, IL

TRAD ING INFORMAT ION
American Tower Corporation’s common
stock is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol AMT. On
February 27, 1998, the Class A Common
Stock commenced trading on a “when-
issued” basis on the inter-dealer bulletin
board of the over-the-counter market.
The Class A Common Stock commenced
trading on the NYSE on June 5, 1998 (the
day after ATC separated form American
Radio). The following high and low sales
prices are as reported on the New York
Stock Exchange during the years ended
December 31, 1998 and 1999. The
Company has not paid dividends on its
shares of common stock and the
Company’s credit agreements restrict
such payments. It is not anticipated that
any dividends will be paid on any shares
of any class of common stock in the fore-
seeable future.

1999 First Quarter
High $30.25 Low $20.50

Second Quarter
High $26.875 Low $20.50

Third Quarter
High $26.00 Low $19.50

Fourth Quarter
High $33.25 Low $17.125

1998 First Quarter
(commencing February 27, 1998)
High $20.25 Low $15.50

Second Quarter
High $26.125 Low $18.75

Third Quarter
High $28.625 Low $14.375

Fourth Quarter
High $29.625 Low $13.25
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116 Huntington Avenue, 11th Floor

Boston, Massachusetts 02116

617.375.7500   F 617.375.7575

www.americantower.com

EVERYTHING FROM THE GROUND UP.


